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CHAPTER 11l (CONTINUED)

SECTION 11

HISTORY OF THE KINGS OF BEEJAPOOR, DENOMINATED ADIL SHAH

YOOSOOF ADIL SHAH

His remarkable origin; arrives in India from Persia; is patronised
by the King of the Deccan, and attains high distinction; becomes the
leader of the foreign troops, and opposes the minister Kasim Bereed.
Yoosoof maintains his independence in Beejapoor. The minister instigates
Bahadur Geelany, Mullik Ahmud Bheiry of Ahmudnuggur, and the Raja
of Beejanuggur, to attack Yoosoof. He obtains a victory over the Raja
of Beejanuggur, and acquires a large booty. The Mahomedan governor
of Sagur is excited to make war against Yoosoof, but is slain in battle.
The independent sovereigntiecs of Beejapoor, Golconda, Bidur, Ahmud-
nuggur, and Berar, are formed, Yoosoof assumes the title of King;
attempts to introduce the Sheea doctrines; nearly loses his throne, and is
induced to forego his intentions. The Portuguese take Goa, which is
shortly after retaken by Yoosoof Adil Shah. His death and
character. 1

ISMAEL ADIL SHAH

Kumal Khan Deccany appointcd by the late King., on his death-bed,
protector to his only son Ismael. The Soony doctrines avowedly made
the established religion of the state. Goa retaken by the Portuguese.
Treaty with the Portuguese. The protector gradually takes possession of
several estates lapsing to the crown, till he at length threatens to ascend
the throne. He enters into a scheme with Amcer Bereed of Bidur to cede
to him the districts south of Sholapoor and cast of the Beema, to be
himself acknowledged King of all the territory west of that river from
Punderpoor; resolves on dethroning the King. The plot of the queen-
mother to oppose the protector. He is assassinated. Deliberate conduct
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of the protector’s mother, and activity of his son. 'Ihe Queen-mother
is alarmed. Great intrepidity of Dilshad Agha, the sister of Ghuzunfur
Beg, the late King’s foster-brother; collects the foreign troops about the
palace; opposes every effort of the late minister’s son, who attempts to
carry the palace by storm, and is killed by a stone pushed over the
battlements. The King's party successful. The Deccany troops are all
dismissed, and great encouragement given to foreign soldiers. Mirza
Jehangeer authorised to attack the eastern districts ceded by the Protec-
tor to Ameer Bereed, which are all recovered. Ameer Bereed, in the
name of Mahmood Shah Bahmuny, requires the aid of the several
Deccany states, and marches to Beejapoor; is defcated; and the Bahmuny
King and his son are taken prisoners. A small force is sent with the
Bahmuny King and his son to Bidur. Ameer Bereed retreats from the
capital. Ismael Adil Shah resolves to rccover Rachore and Moodkul,
taken by the Hindoos; advances with an army to the banks of the
Krishna. The enemy in possession of the ferries. The King passes on
an elephant; and is followed by many of his troops; attacks the Hindoos,
but is repulsed, and narrowly escapes with his life; is recommended by
his general Assud Khan of Belgam to retire to Beejapoor. The King
meets Boorhan Nizam Shah at Sholapoor, and gives him his sister Muryum
in marriage. Sholapoor and certain districts promised in dower; they
are subsequently withheld by Ismael Adil Shah. War ensues. Boorhan
Nizam Shah is defeated; returns again in the ensuing year, and is again
repulsed. The King’s sister Khoodeija is married to Alla-ood-Deen Imad
Shah of Berar. The King sends 400,000/. sterling to assist Boorhan
Nizam Shah in repelling the attack of Bahadur Shah of Guzerat. The
King attacks Ameer Bereed, and besieges Bidur; kills two of the sons of
Ameer Bereed with his own hand. Ameer Berced is taken prisoner, but
is restored to his territory. Death of Ismael Adil Shah; his character. 19

MULLOO ADIL SHAH

Assud Khan of Belgam is left protector during the minority of the
Princes Mulloo and Ibrahim; suspends the coronation till the army returns
to Beejapoor. The nobles divided in their inclinations towards the princes.
The ladies of the royal family are consulted on the choice of a successor,
and they recommend the coronation of Mulloo, the eldest son of the
late King. Assud Khan becomes minister; is offended with the conduct
of the young King; resigns his office, and retires to his estate at Belgam.
Ismael Khan Deccany is made minister. The King's vices disgust his
nobles, who quit the court, and retirc to their estates. The King’s
grandmother employs Yoosoof Khan Toork, an officer of rank, to depose
the King, and to raise his brother Ibrahim to the throne. Mulloo Adil
Shah deposed, and both he and his brother Alloo are depnved of slght.
Ibrahim Adil Shah is raised to the thrope. ... " “
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IBRAHIM ADIL SHAH 1L

The King proscribes foreigners from his court, with a very few
exceptions; he entertains thirty thousand cavalry, composed of the inhabi-
tants of the Deccan; causes the accounts of government to be kept in
the language of the Deccan. History of the civil war in the government,
of Becjanuggur. Accession of the minister Ramraj to the throne; his
title is disputed by Ibrahim Adil Shah. War ensues, which ends in favour
of the Hindoos. lbrahim Adil Shah becomes jealous of his minister and
general Assud Khan. The kings of Ahmudnuggur and Bidur unite against
Ibrahim Adil Shah. The King of Berar mediates a peace between the
partics, and Ibrahim becomes reconciled to his minister. Serious corfe-
deracy of the kings of Ahmudnuggur and Golconda, and the Raja of
Beejanuggur, against Ibrahim Adil Shah. The Prince Abdoolla flies to
the Portuguese at Goa, and induces them to promise him aid to dethrone
the King. The Prince Abdoolla is taken, and suffers death. War with
the King of Ahmudnuggur, during which he dies. War continued with
his successor. Death of Ibrahim Adil Shah. 47

ALLY ADIL SHAH

Account of his early life; embraces the Sheea persuasion; engages the
Raja of Beejanuggur to assist him in the war against the King of Ahmud-
nuggur. After a successful campaign, Ally Adil Shah consents to accept
of terms of peace. The war renewed by the King of Ahmudnuggur in
conjunction with the King of Golconda. Ally Adil Shah and the Raja
of Beejanuggur again take the field. Peace concluded. The Mahomedan
kings of the Deccan unite against the Raja of Beejanuggur, who is slain
in the battle of Talikote, and part of his kingdom wrested from his
family. Exertions made by Ally Adil Shah to occupy the dominions
of Beejanuggur partially frustrated by the jealousy of the King of
Ahmudnuggur. Many Hindoo chiefs on the south rendered tributary.
The King marches against the surviving member of the house of Beeja-
nuggur. His Hindoo cavalry desert Ally Adil Shah, and act against
him, which compels him to retreat; he cuts off the Hindoo officers by
treachery; his death. ... .. 68

IBRAHIM ADIL SHAH II

Chand Beeby, the Dowager-queen of Ally Adil Shan, assumes charge
of the government; she procures the minister to be seized and put to death,
and raises another officer to his station, who, apprehensive of the Dowa-
ger's conduct, causes her to be scized, and confined in Satara. The
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minister is expelled by the people, and the Dowager is released. Dissen-
sions at the court. The kings of Ahmudnuggur and Golconda unite to
attack Beejapoor; they besiege it, but are compelled to withdraw. Dilawur
Kban protector. Chand Beeby retires to Ahmudnuggur. Civil war in
Abmudnuggur. War between Ahmudnuggur and Beejapoor. The pro-
tector Dilawur Khan is compelled to fly from the capital. The young
King assumes charge of his government. War against the Hindoos of the
Carnatic and Mysore. The Prince Ismael aspires to the throne, and suffers
death. War with Ahmudnuggur The ng of Ahmudnuggur is killed
in battle ... - 87

SECTION LI

HISTORY OF THE DYNASTY OF THE KINGS OF AHMUDNUGGUR,
DENOMINATED NIZAM SHAHY

- AHMUD NIZAM SHAH

His origin and early history; is appointed governor of Joonere;
declares his independence on the murder of his father at the court of
Bidur; extends his territorial possessions; assumes the title of king; builds
the fort and city of Ahmudnuggur; takes Dowlutabad from the officers of
the Bahmuny government; reduces Antoor and several hill-forts in the
southern hills of Kandeish. compels the rajas of Galna and Buglana to
pay him tribute; supports the claims of Alum Khan Farooky to the
throne of Kandeish, but is compelled to relinquish his interference by
the King of Guzerat. Death of Ahmud Nizam Shah; his character. The
manners of his court described . 116

BOORHAN NIZAM SHAH |

The King ascends the throne in his seventh year. A owumi Khan
Deccany minister and regent. His son, entitled Azeez-oel-Moolk, com-
mander of the houschold troops. The nobles are offended with Azeez-ool-
Moolk, and resolve to remove his party: they endeavou: (o nhtain posses-
sion of the King's younger brother Raja-Joo, but thewr plue s defeated:
they quit Ahmudnuggur with eight thousand men. and jn the King of
Berar, who is induced to lead an army to attack the Nizam Shahy domi-
nions. The enemy is defeated in the battle of Ranoory bv the troops
of the young King of Ahmudnuggur; is pursued. and c:..elled to quit
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Berar. Applies to the King of Kandeish to mediate a peace. Mookumil
Khan demands the cession of thc town of Patry in exchange for some
other place. The King of Berar not only declines compliance, but fortifies
the town. Mookumil Khan some time afterwards makes a night-attack
on Patry, and occupies it. The King espouses Ameena, a dancing girl,
and takes to drinking wine. Mookumil Khan resigns his office of minister,
which is conferred on Shcikh Jafur Deccany. The King marries the
Princess Muryum, sister of Ismacl Adil Shah. The fort of Sholapoor
promiscd to be obtained for the King of Ahmudnuggur by Assud Khan
of Bclgam, the ambassador; but the cession is not acceded to by the King
of Beejapoor. The King’s first wife assumes superiority over the Princess
Muryum. The latter complains to her brother, who remonstrates, and
threatens the King of Ahmudnuggur. Formidable confederacy against the
King of Beejapoor. The allies march to take Sholapoor; are defeated.
The King of Berar is encouraged by the King of Beejapoor to attack
Patry; it is taken and retaken, and subsequently rased to the ground.
Boorhan Nizam Shah is attacked by the kings of Berar and Kandeish;
they are both defeated, with the loss of three hundred elephants; they
apply for aid to Bahadur Shah of Guzerat. Boorhan Nizam Shah obtains
the aid of Ameer Berced, King of Bidur, and a body of troops from
Beejapoor. Ameer Bereed attacks and discomfits two divisions of the
Guzerat army near Beer; but Boorhan Nizam Shah is eventually compelled
to retreat, first to Purenda, and then to Joonere. Bahadur Shah of
Guzerat, after being proclaimed King at Ahmudnuggur, retires to Dowlu-
tabad. Boorhan Nizam Shah removes Sheikh Jafur from the office of
Peshwa, and confers it on a Hindoo named Kawur Sein. Obtains peace.
The confederates retire to their own capitals, Boorhan Nizam Shah is
constrained to rcad the Khootba in the name of Bahadur Shah of Guzerat.
Bahadur Shah, after subduing Malwa, arrives at Boorhanpoor in Kandeish.
Boorhan Nizam Shah is invited to meet him. Difficulties occur, which
are removed through the address of the ambassador Shah Tahir. Descrip-
tion of the meeting. Disputes concerning territorial limits occur between
the kings of Ahmudnuggur and Beejapoor; mediated by ambassadors.
Boorhan Nizam Shah supports the Sheea persuasion: avails himself of the
jealousy of the King of Beejapoor against his minister Assud Khan of
Belgam to wage war with him; is eventually. compelled to retreat; renews
the war in concert with the King of Golconda and Ramraj. The King of
Ahmudnuggur makes three campaigns, but with little success. His death;
his body sent to Kurbula. 128

HOOSSEIN NIZAM SHAH L

Ascends the throne at the age of thirteen. and is supported by the
foreign troops; his brother Abdool Kadur disputes his title. and is sup-
ported by the Deccanics. The King's half-brothers fly to their uncle the
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King of Beejapoor. The King declares was against Beejapoor; besieges
Sholapoor. Death of the King of Beejapoor. The war prosecuted.
Hoossein Nizam Shah retreats to Peitun; is besicged in Ahmudnuggur.
Peace concluded. The fort of Ahmudnuggur strengthened. War rencwed.
The King of Golconda joins in an alliance with the King of Ahmudnuggur
against the King of Beejapoor and the Raja of Beejanuggur. The King
of Ahmudnuggur loses six hundred picces of cannon in one action.
Abmudnuggur besieged a second time. The cnemy lose twenty-five thou-
sand men by the swelling of thc Sena river during the night. Peace
concluded. Confederacy of the Moslem kings of the Deccan against
Ramraj Raja of Becjanuggur, who is defeated and slain. Death of
Hoossein Nizam Shah 1. 144

MOORTUZA NIZAM SHAH
OCOMMONLY CALLED
DIWANA, OR, THE MADMAN

The Dowager-queen Khoonza Sooltana assumes the office of regent
during the King's minority; she proceeds to attack Beejapoor. Peace con-
cluded. The governments of Beejapoor and Ahmudnuggur unite to
conquer Berar, but which is only plundered. The young King compels his
mother to retire from public life, and assumes charge of his government;
he makes war with Beejapoor; attacks Dharoor, which is taken. The
King endeavours to expel the Portugucse from Reevadunda on the sea-
coast, but fails. Partition treaty of Berar and Beecjanuggur formed be-
tween the courts of Ahmudnuggur and Beejapoor. Berar conquered by
the King of Ahmudnuggur. The Emperor Akbur of Dehly requires him
to relinquish it. Character of Chungis Khan the Ahmudnuggur general
and minister; his death. Sulabut Khan minister. The King attempts
his son’s life. His son murders him. 152

MEERAN HOOSSEIN NIZAM SHAH

The King gives way to scandalous excesses, and exercises thc. most
wanton cruelty. Mirza Khan, the minister, is suspected of a design to
raise the King’s uncle to the throne. The minister is confined; is again
released, and recommends all the surviving male members of the royal
family to be put to death. Fifteen princes assassinated in one day. The
minister is again accused of treason. Plot to seize him converted by the
minister against the King himself. The King’s person is secured. The
Prince Ismacl, being only twelve years of age, is placed on the throne
by the minister and the foreign troops. Jumal Khan, a Deccany leader,
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heads a tumult to oppose the measures of the minister Mirza Khan.
Jumal Khan demands the restoration of Meeran Hoossein; the latter is
assassinated, and his head exposed upon a pole to the populace. Jumal
Khan insists on the Deccanies having the lead in the government, and
excites the people to attack the fort of Ahmudnuggur. They burn the
gates and enter it. The foreigners, both in the town and city, sought for,
and put to death by the Deccanies and Abyssinians. The minister Mirze
Khan is disgraced, and suffers a cruel death. 165

ISMAEL NIZAM SHAH

The power of Jumal Khan is firmly established; he becomes leader
of a sect called Mchdvies. All the surviving foreigners in the dominions
required to quit them. The author quits Ahmudnuggur, and proceeds to
Beejapoor. Sulabut Khan, the cxiled minister, leads an army from Berar
to oppose Jumal Khan; is defeated. The rcgent of Beejapoor also leads
an army against him. Peace concluded. Jumal Khan pays eighty-five
thousand pounds sterling to defray the expense of the war. Chand Beeby,
the Dowager of Ally Adil Shah, is required to be sent to Becjapoor. The
Emperor Akbur supports the claim of Boorhan, the father of the young
King and who for many years had quitted the court and lived in exile,
from apprehension of his brother Moortuza Nizam Shah the Mad.
Boorhan is also supported by the court of Beejapoor. Jumal Khan defeats
the Becjapoor army, and marches to oppose that of Boorhan. A battle
ensues. Jumal Khan is killed. The young King escapes from the field,
but is afterwards taken and confined by his father, who ascends the throne
under the title of Boorhan Nizam Shah II. 168

BOORHAN NIZAM SHAH TII.

His early life; his former attempts on the throne recapitulated. The
Mehdvies are expelled the kingdom. The Sheea persuasion is re-cstab-
lished. Dilawur Khan, the late regent of Beejapoor, arrives at Ahmud-
nuggur, and is courteously received. His delivery into the hands of
Ibrahim Adil Shah is required. The demand is rejected. War ensues.
Boorhan Nizam Shah attempts to recover Reecvadunda from the Portu-
guese. Constructs the fort of Kolra. Siege of Reevadunda continued.
The Portuguese attack the besieging army, which retreats into Kolra. T'he
fugitives are followed by the Portuguese, and twelve thousand Deccanics
are killed. The King elevates foreigners to high offices in the state; be
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affords his aid to the brother of the King of Beejapoor, in order to depose
Ibrahim Adil Shah, but the intended revolution is crushed, and thé pre-
tender suffers death. Boorhan Nizam Shah forms a league with Venkata-
dry, the brother of Ramraj, against the King of Beejapoor, and himself
attacks Sholapoor; his troops defeated, and his general slain. The King
falls sick; proclaims his son Ibrahim his heir. A faction, headed by
Yekhlas Khan, is raised in favour of the Prince Ismael Nizam Shah, who
had been dethroned. Ismael takes the field. but is defeated, and flies to
Purenda. Death of Boorhan Nizam Shah. 17

IBRAHIM NIZAM SHAH

Meean Munjoo Deccany is appointed minister. Yckhlas Khan is
pardoned, and permitted to return to court; he puts himself at the head
of a party to oppose Meean Munjoo. The Beejapoor ambassador is in-
sulted, and quit the court. A war ensues. The leaders of the opposite
parties unite and march with the King to the Beejapoor frontier. Meean
Munjoo proposes to his colleague, Yekhlas Khan, that they should obtain
peace, and unite with Ibrahim Adil Shah for the purpose of repelling the
encroachments of Akbur Padshah of Dehly. His proposal is overruled.
A battle is brought on through the intemperance of the King, who is
killed. and his army defeated. Meean Munjoo sends the King's only son
Bahadur, an infant in arms, to the fort of Chawund: he brings a boy
pamed Ahmud from the fort of Dowlutabad, and raises him to the
throne. ... . 174

AHMUD, THE SON OF SHAH TAHIR

The nobles unite with Meean Munjoo in raising Ahmud to the throne.
Yekhlas Khan institutes an enquiry into bis origin. His pretentions to
royal descent disputed. Meean Munjoo and his minion are besieged in
the fort by Yekhlas Khan. He obtains the release of Nehung Khan and
Hubbush Khan, two chiefs confined in Dowlutabad; and being unable to
obtain possession of the Prince Bahadur, the son of the late King, he
procures a boy of the same age in the bazar of Ahmudnuggur, and pro-
claims him King. Meean Munjoo sends a deputation to the Prince Moorad
Mirza, the son of Akbur Padshah of Dehly, inviting him to march to
Ahmudnuggur. Dissensions among Yekhlas Khan’s party. Meean
Munjoo attacks and defeats it. The Prince Moorad Mirza reaches
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Ahmudnuggur with an army of thirty thousand men. Meean Munjoo
resolves to oppose them; takss measures to defend the fort. Leaves
Chand Beeby there, and quits the fort with Ahmud Shah. Chand Beeby
procures the assassination of the governor of the fort, and proclaims
her grand-nephew, Bahadur Nizam Shah, King. Forms a regency.
Abmudnuggur besieged. Four pretenders to the throme. Chand Beeby
unites with one of the parties headed by Nehung Khan, an Abyssinian
chief. The King of Beejapoor sends a division of twelve thousand men
to co-operate with Chand Beeby under Soheil Khan. Meean Munjoo
and Yekhlas Khan also join him. The King of Golconda sends an army
of six thousand cavalry to assist in repelling the Moguls. The Moguls
storm Ahmudnuggur. Gallant defence of the garrison. Intrepidity of
Chand Beeby. The Moguls are repulsed. A treaty concluded, by
which the Nizam Shaby state formally cedes the sovereignty of Berar.
The Moguls retreat. The allies arrive at Ahmudnuggur. The claims of
Bahadur Shah established. Chand Beeby appointed regent; and the
late King Abmud is provided with an estate by Ibrahim Adil Shah of
Beejapoor. . 176

BAHADUR NIZAM SHAH

Queen Chand obtains the release of Babadur Nizam Shah. He is
formally crowned. Mahomed Khan appointed peshwa; he raises hus
relatives to high offices. The old chiefs disgusted. The peshwa seizes
many of them. Queen Chand applies for aid to her nephew, Ibrahim
Adil Shah of Beejapoor, who sends an army under his general Soheil
Khan to her assistance. The peshwa Mahomed Khan intrigues with the
Mogul general Khan Khanan. Mahomed Khan’s treachery discovered; he
is seized by the garrison of Ahmudnuggur, and made over to Queen
Chand for punishment. The Moguls seize districts not included in the
late treaty. A formidablec army, composed of the troops of Ahmudnuggur,
Beejapoor, and Golconda, under Soheil Khan, amounting to sixty thou-
sand men, advances towards Berar. Battle of Soopa. The Deccan troops
are eventually defeated on the second day. The Mogul forces canton at
Jalna. Nchung Khan is created peshwa by Queen Cha.nd. He attempts
to scize her; is excluded from the fort; lays siege to it; recovers some
of the districts south of the Godavery occupied by the Moguls. The
Prince Moorad Mirza dies; is succeeded in the command of the army
of the Deccan by his brother Daniel Mirza. Akbur Padshah prooceds
to the Deccan; besieges Ascer, while his son Daniel adv?nm to attack
Abmudnuggur. Nehung Khan attempts to oppose their march, but
eventually retires to Joonere. Second siege of Ahmudnuggur. Queen
Chand calls a council of war; she recommends the surrender of the
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fort; her opinion overruled; she is siezed by the garrison, and murdered.
Ahmudnuggur taken by storm, and the garrison put to the sword.
Bahadur Nizam Shah conveyed prisoner to the fort of Gualiar. ... 184

MOORTUZA NIZAM SHAH II.

Moortuza, the son of Shah Ally, proclaims himself King; is supported
by some of the Nizam Shahy chicfs. Mullik Ambur and Meean Rajoo,
two Deccany leaders, occupy the whole of the Nizam Shahy territories.
Unsuccessful efforts madec by Khan Khanan, the Mogul governor of
Ahmudnuggur, to dispossess them; he at length forms a treaty with Mullik
Ambur. The King joins Mullik Ambur. and holds his court at Dowluta-
bad. The Prince Daniel Mirza arrives at Ahmudnuggur, and receives
homage from Mullik Ambur; he espouses the daughter of Ibrahim Adil
Shah. Moortuza Nizam Shah invites Meean Rajoo to assist him against
Mullik Ambur. War between the rival chiefs. Mullik Ambur conciliates
the King. Removes the seat of government to Joonerc. Meean Rajoo
is eventually defeated by Mullik Ambur, and almost the whole of the
Nizam Shahy dominions falls under the control of the latter. ... 189

SECTION 1V

HISTORY OF THE KINGS OF GOLOONDA, ENTITLED
KOOTB SHAHY

SOOLTAN KOOLLY KOOTB SHAH

His origin; of Toorkman descent; arrival in India; is appointed one
of the secretaries to the government; volunteers to tranquilise the district
of Tulingana; is ennobled; assumes the title of King; introduces the
Persian customs and religion into his government; is assassinated by
order of his son. ... o 194

JUMSHEED KOOTB SHAH

The King unites with the King of Ahmudnuggur against the King of
Beejapoor; takes the fort of Kakny; besieges Etgeer; is compelled to
retreat pursucd by the Beejapoor army; receives a severe would in the
face which disfigures him for life; contracts a lingering discase; his
brothers fly from the capital out of apprehension; his death. ... 196
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IBRAHIM KOOTB SHAH

Account of his flight from Golconda; and his reception at the Hindoo
court of Beejanuggur described; is invited to ascend the throne; his
arrival at Golconda; engages to attack the Beejapoor territory; with-
draws from the war; engages to assist the King of Beejapoor against
Abhmudnuggur; he suddenly withdraws from the alliance; espouses Beeby
Jumally, the daughter of Hoossein Nizam Shah; engages to assist in the
reduction of Kulliany; the confederacy is dissolved; becomes a party in
the general league of the Mahomedans against Ramraj; is present at the.
battle of Talikota; his son, the Prince Abdool Kadur, aims at the
throne; he is seized, and put to death. The King’s illness; his
death. 197

MAHOMED KOOLLY KOOTB SHAH

Proceeds towards Koolburga in support of an alliance formed with
the King of Ahmudnuggur; rcturns to his capital. lcaving one of his
officers to conduct the campaign. The King of Ahmudnuggur is attacked
by the Regent of Beejapoor, and defeated, with the loss of one hundred
and twenty elephants. Mahomed Koolly Kootb Shah sends an embassy
to Beejapoor; espouses the sister of Ibrahim Adil Shah; builds the city of
Bhagnuggur, so called after his favourite mistress Bhagmutty. 200

APPENDIX

TO THE HISTORY OF THE KINGS OF GOLCOMDA

PREFATORY NOTICE ... 202

SOOLTAN KOOLLY KOOTB SHAH

His origin; arrival in India from Persia; distinguishes himself in re-
pulsing an attack on the King’s person at Bidur; is created governor
of Tulingana. Death of the King. Sooltan Koolly declares his independ-
cnce, and builds the town of Mahomednuggur, near the fort of Golconda;
cxtends his dominions by foreign conquests; takes Rajconda, Dewurconda,
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and Pangul, from the Raja of Beejanuggur, also Gunpoora and Kovil-
conda. War with Sectaputty Raja of Tulingana. Sooltan Koolly takes
Wurungole and Cumamett. War with Guja Ramchundur. Takes Belum-
conda. War with the Raja of Beejanuggur. War with Ismael Adil Shah,
King of Beejapoor. Capture of Koheer and Nulgoonda from the Hindoos.
Siege of Etgeer. Death of Sooltan Koolly. " 202

JUMSHEED KOOTB SHAH

Accession of Jumsheed Kootb Shah. Revolt of his brother Ibrahim,
whose cause is espoused by Kasim Bereed, King of Bidur. Account of
the origin of Ramraj, who afterwards ascends the throne of Beejanuggur.
War with the King of Bidur. Death of Jumsheed Kootb Shah. 228

SOOBHAN KOOLLY KOOTB SHAH

Soobhan Koolly succeeds his father on the throne at the age of
seven years. Jugdew Row rebels: is reduced by the Regent, Seif Khan.
The King’s uncle, Ibrahim, assisted by Ramraj of Beejanuggur, sets up
his pretensions to the throne; is supported by Jugdew Row, and arrives
at Golconda. The young King is deposed. 234

IBRAHIM KOOTB SHAH

Accession of Ibrahim Kootb Shah; assists the King of Ahmudnuggur
against the King of Beejapoor. Jugdew Row becomes prime minister;
retires from Golconda to Berar, and goes into rebellion. Hc is defeated
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THE AUTHOR'’S PREFACE

THis humble individual, Mahomed Kasim Ferishta, desires it to
be understood by those reflecting persons who peruse his work.
that as the object of his labours, in the preceding part, has been
to give a true account of the sovereigns of Dehly, and of the
Bahmuny Kings of the Deccan. so shall his care be, in the re-
maining portion of it, to write a detail of the histories of all the
other Mahomedan princes who have held independent sway in
India. He proposes, therefore. to continue the narrative by
commemorating. in the first place, the deeds of the illustrious
monarchs who have reigned over Beejapoor: for the prosperily
of which dynasty he constantly prays to Almighty God.

Situated as the author is, under the protection of this family,
it may be supposed that he would be disposed to lavish enco-
miums on its ancestors. and either suppress or misrepresent’
facts for the purpose of obtaining pecuniary rewards: but his
object is to write truth in simple and unadorned language. He
has fortunately been already placed. by the bounty of his sove-
reign, Tbrahim Adil Shah IL. above all pecuniary wishes, so
that he is able to spurn gold heneath his feet. On that score,
therefore. having nothing to desire. he is left free to ‘indulge
his own inclination, in fulfilline the commands of his Kings, by
the honest performance of the task which he has undertaken.
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HISTORY
OF THE
MAHOMEDAN POWER IN INDIA

CHAPTER IIL.
(CONTINUED)

SECTION 1I.

HISTORY OF THE KINGS OF BEEJAPOOR, DENOMINATED
ADlJ. SHAH

YOOSOOF ADIL SHAH

ABooL MoozUFFUR YOO0SOOF ADIL SHAH, the founder of the
Adil Shahy dynasty, was the son of one of the emperors of Room,'
of the Ottoman family. His father, Agha Morad,? dying in A.H.
854 (A.D. 1451).® he was succeeded by his eldest son Mahomed:
on which occasion the ministers observed, that as in the beginning
of the late reign, a person named Moostufa. calling himself a son
of Elderim Bayezeed, occasioned great commotions in the empire,
it was desirable that in futurc only one prince of the family should
be suffered to live. Sooltan Mahomed, assenting to the suggestion.
gave orders for his brother Yoosoof, then a child, to be put to
death; and the executioners came to demand him from his mother,
in order that, having strangled him. the body might be publicly
exposed. The Queen entreated them to spare the infant; or, if
state policy demanded so cruel a sacrifice, to indulge her by de-
ferring the execution for a day, that she might prepare her mind
for so melancholy an event. The ministers having consented, the
Queen improved the time to save her son’s life. She accordingly
sent for Khwaja Imad-ood-Deen, a merchant of Sava, with whom
she had been in the habit of making purchases of the products of
Persia, and enquired if he then had any male slaves for sale. He
replied, he had five Georgians, and two Circassians. Among these

1. Asia Minor.

2. Amurath IL

3. According to Gibbon, vol. xii. p. 150.. Amurath died on the
2d of Fcbruary, 1451, and was succeeded by Mahomed IT.. who after-
wards took Constantinople.

Briggs III/1
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was a Circassian who, on the whole, bore some resemblance to the
Prince; and him she purchased, at the same time committing
Yoosoof to the merchant's care, together with a large sum of
money, entreating him to convey him 10 a place of security, out
of the Emperor’s dominions. The Khwaja, for the sakc of the
money, accepted the commission, and began his journey, with the
infant Prince, the same night. The next morning, the ministers
coming to the door of the Queen’s apartments, demanded her son;
when having admitted one ot thcm, 6n whom she could rely, can-
didly informed him of the deception, and bound him to favour
it by large gifts. The Circassian slave was accordingly strangled;
and the body being brought out, wrapped in a shroud, by the
minister, whose integrity was not suspected, it was interred without
cxamination.* '

Khwaja Imad-ood-Deen carried the young prince to Ardbeel,
where he enrolled him among the disciples of the venerable Sheik
Suffy; after which he conveyed him to the city of Sava. When he
was seven years of age the Khwaja made known to him the secret
of his birth, and placed him at school with his own children. The
next year the Queen sent a person to Savs to enquire after her
child; and the messenger, after an absence of nine months, depart-
ed homewards, but was taken so ill at Alexandria, that he remained
there a year and a half; after which he returned to the Queen,
and presented her with a letter written by Yposoof, giving her
pleasing accounts of himself. The Princess bestowed alms to the
poor in gratitude for the preservation of her son; and shortly after
sent his nurse, with her son Ghuzunfur Beg,® and her daughter
Dilshad Agha, to Sava, accompanied by her former messenger, as
also a large sum of money for the use of the Prince. Yoosoof

4. Gibbon, vol. xii. chap. Ixviii. p. 186, mentions the fact of
Mahomed having, on his accession, ordered all his brothers to be put
to death. In a note, also, he says, that one of them, Calipin, was saved,
and became a Christian under the name of Callisthus Othomannus. It
is, therefore, as probable, that another might also have escaped; and if
we are to believe the romantic story regarding Yoosoof, it seems very
unlikely that the circumstance should either have been known in Europe,
or, at all events, form any portion of European history.

S. Ghuzunfur Beg accompanied Yoosoof Adil Khan to India, and
was his most distinguished general after he ascended the throne at Bueja- -
poor. Ghuzunfur Beg's sister, Dilshad Agha, also became very conspi-
cuous in the insurrection which nearly cost Ismael Adil Shah his life.
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:umuined at Sava till he was sixteen years old, when his nurse
waprudently divulged the secret of his birth, which having come
to the ears of the governor, a Toork of the tribe of Akkooinloo,
he made the Prince pay nim four hundred tomans,” to permit him
to quit the place in safety. Yoosoof intended to remain at Koom
till the governor of Sava should be removed; but after some time,
having left Koom, hc proceeded to Kashan, Isfahan, and
eventually to Shiraz, where a story is told that the prophet Khiar
appeared to him in a dream, directing him to quit Persia and go
to Hindoostan, where he should attain to sovereign power. Yoo-
soof accordingly left Shiraz, went to the sea-coast, and embarking
at Gombroon for India, reached Dabul in the year 864. On his
arrival there he became acquainted with Khwaja Mahmood
Goorjistany, a merchant who had come to that port on business.
Yoosoof’s appearance and manners (being at that time only seven-
teen years of age) were at once striking and engaging, for he had
received a liberal education at Sava. The Khwaja prevailed on
him to accompany him to Ahmudabad Bidur, where he was sold,
as a Georgian slave, to the minister Khwaja Mahmood Gawan for
the royal bodyguard. This account the author received from
Mirza Mahomed of Sava, the son of Gheias-ood-Deen, prime
minister of Yoosoof Adil Khan at the time he declared his inde-
pendence at Beejapoor, under the designation of Yoosoof Adil
Shah. The same story is related by Shah Jumal-ood-Deen Hos-
sein, the son of Shah Hoossein Anjoo, in his history; as also by
Khwaja Nuzr, 2 member of the Bahmuny family. At the period
of the marriage of Beeby Musseety’ to the Prince Ahmud at
Koolburga, that Princess took her scat above all the other ladies;
and on remonstrance being made to her afterwards, she replied,
as the daughter of Yoosoof Adil Shah. and the niece and grand-
daughter of two empezrors of Rocm, she certainly considered her-
self inferior to no lady in the Deccan. Ameer Bereed of Bidur
was afterwards at the trouble of sending persons to Constantinople
to endeavour to falsify this statemen:: but the corroborating facts
were so strong that the subject was not again agitated.  Yoosoof
Adil Khan is said to have derived the appellation of Savace* from
the circumstance of his having bcen educated at Sava.

6. 400/

7. Daughter of Yeosoof Adil Shah.

#. The Portuguese histerians call him, indifferently. Sabayo and
the Hydalcan.
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After two or three months, Khwaja Mahmood Gawan, with
the approbation of the Queen-mother, placed Yoosoof under Azeez
Khan, master of the horse; who finding him fit for the task, and
being old and infirm hiruself, committed to him the whole duty of
his department; by which Yoosoof had frequent opportunities of
going into the presence of Mahomed Shah, whose notice he attrac-
ted. On the death of Azeez Khan (at the recommendation of
Khwaja Mahmood Gawan) he succeeded to the office of master of
the horse; but not agreeing with the bramin who kept the accounts,
he resigned the office, and attached himself to Nizam-ool-Moolk
Toork, one of the nobles at court, whose friendship he acquired
to such a degree that he used to call him brother.

On Nizam-ool-Moolk’s being appointed governor of Berar,
he procured for bis friend the title of Adil Khan, with the rank of
a commander of five hundred horse, and took him with him.
Nizam-ool-Moolk was afterwards killed at Kchrla;® when Yoosoof
Adil Khan, leaving a strong garrison in the fort, conducted back
the army, together with the rich plunder of a very successful cam-
paign, as also thirty elephants, which procured him the royal
approbation; from which time the star of his good fortune began
to ascend.

When Mahmood Shah left this vain world, and dissensions
prevailed throughout the kingdom, most of the foreign officers and
soldiers attached themselves to Yoosoof Adil Khan; who, perceiv-
ing that the ministers of Mahmood Shah were bent on his destruc-
tion, withdrew with his family and followers from Ahmudabad
Bidur to Beejapoor; and resolving to become the founder of a
kingdom, he began to add to his territories by conquest.

When the hooma' of prosperity had spread the shadow of
her wings cver his head, Yoosoof Adil Khan, as well as Mullik
Ahmud Bheiry, in the year A.H. 895 (A.D. 1489), according to the
verse in the Holy Koran,

“The sword for him who can wield it, and dominion to him
who conquers,”
caused the Khootba to be read in his name, and assumed the
canopy of royalty, at which time the foreigners unanimously
acknowledged him King. After this event, he wrested many forts

9. Vide vol. ii. p. 296.
10. The fabulous bird which, hovering over the hcad of any one,

portends that he will succeed to a kingdom.
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from the governors of Mahmood Shah, and subdued all the coun-
try from the river Beema to Beejapoor, the inhabitants of which
territory submitted to his authority; and being subsequently joined
by many Deccany officers, who had formerly deserted him on his
retiring from Ahmudabad Bidur, his power daily increased.

Kasim Bereed Toork, who had himself entertained hopes of
founding a kingdom at Beejapoor, wrote to the Ray of Beejanug-
gur, that Mahomed Shah was willing to cede to him the forts of
Moodkul and Rachore, if he would wrest them from Yoosoof Adil
Khan; at the same time letters were addressed to Bahadur Geelany,
who possessed Goa and all DUREABAR,** (the tract which, in the
language of the Deccan, is called Concan,) inviting him to invade
the country of Yoosoof Adil Khan.

Timraj, the gencral of the Ray of Beejanuggur, having crossed
the river Toongbudra, laid waste the country as far as Moodkul
and Rachore; and Bahadur Geelany reduced the fortress of Jum-
kindy. Yoosoof Adil Khan was too weak to repel these attacks
by force. He accordingly made peace with Timraj, and expelled
Bahadur Geclany from his dominions; but without attempting to
recover Jumkindy, led his army, camposed of eight thousand
foreigners, towards the capital, against Kasim Bereed.

Kasim Bereed applied fur aid to Mullik Ahmud Bhelry,
together with Khwaja Jehan Deccany, governor of Purenda, who
joined him. The troops with Mahmood Shah Bahmuny II. mar-
ched from the capital, and were met by Yoosoof Adil Shah in
the vicinity of Nuldroog where an action was fought. Duria Khan
commanded the right wing, Fukhr-ool-Moolk Toork the left, and
Yoosoof Adil Khan led the centre of his army, while his foster-
brother, Ghuzunfur Beg, commanded a separate corps of a
thousand foreign bowmen, to assist wherever there might be occa-
sion. Kasim Bereed fled with the King at the first onset: upon
which Yoosoof Adil Khan and Mullik Ahmud Bheiry, disconti-
nuing the ficht, entered into a treaty on the field, and each retired
to his own dominions. This action is, however, differently related
by the Bahmuny historian, who states, that Mullik Abmud was
not in the field, bu his general Khwaja Jehan only; that Yoosoof
Adil Khan was defeated, and retired to Beejapoor, where he short-
ly after obtained peace with his ecnemies; and then, on learning

11. The sea-coast.
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that dissensions prevailed in Beejanuggur, he marched to retake
-Rachore.

On reaching the banks of the Krishna, Yoosoof Adil Khan
amused himself for some time in hunting; but having brought on
an ague and fever by exertion, he was confined to his bed for two
months; during which time, his foster-brother, Ghuzunfur Beg,
directed all public affairs. In this interval Timraj the minister,
having composed his disputes with the young Ray of Beejanuggur,
advanced at the head of an army to Rachore, which struck terror
into that of Yoosoof Adii Khan, for whose recovery fervent pray-
ers were offered up by his subjects. Not long after, Yoosoof re-
covering, distributed sixty thousand rupees among holy men and
syuds of Medina, Kerbulla, and Nujuf. He also intrusted a con-
siderable sum to Khwaja Abdoolla Hirvy.'? who had come with
him to Hindoostan in the same ship, directing him to build a
mosque at Sava, and to give the surplus of the money among the
poor of that city.

Meanwhile intelligence was received thal Timraj, having
crossed the Toongbudra, was advancing to Beejapoor. Yoosoof
Adil Khan mustered his troops, and found them to consist of eight
thousand Doaspa'® horse and two hundred elephants of all sizes.
Addressing himself to Ghuzunfur Beg, Mirza Jehangeer, and
Dawood Khan Lody, his favourite officers, he said, that he trusted
he should be able to defeat the enemy with this force, and com-
municated his determination to advance towards him. Next day
he dccordingly marched and encamped at a little distance fromr
Timraj's army. and then dividing the ground among his officers to
tii¢ best advantage, he threw up entrenchments round his camp to
orevent surprise.  Several days passed inactively. till on Saturday.
m the month of Rujub, A.H. 898 (April, A.n. 1493), both armies
drew out; and in the beginning of the action nearly five hundred
of Yoosoof Adil Khan's troops being slain, the rest fell back in
Jisorder. Fortunaicly, at this moment, one of his officers who had
heen taken prisoner made his escape, and represented, that the
enemy were busily engaged in plunder, and might be attacked with
advantage The King, rallying his troops, prepared to renew the
action; when Timraj, not having time to collect his whole army,

12 A native of Hirat in Khorassan.
13. For Doaspa, or double-horsed cavalry, vide note, vol. i. p. 89.
and Maicolm’s History cf Persia, vol. ii. pp. 240, 241.
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‘drew up seven thousand horse, a considerable number of foot, and
three hundred elephants to oppose him. Yoosoof Adil Khan
charged this body with such impetuosity, that Timraj, unable to
atand the shock, fled, leaving two hundred elephants, and a thousand
kiorses in the hands of the victors, besides sixty lacks of hoons,*
with many jewels and other valuable booty. Timraj and the young
Ray fled to Beejanuggur. The latter died on the road of wounds
received in the action, and Timraj seized the government of the
country; but some of the principal nobility opposing his usurpa-
tion, dissensions broke out, which gave Yoosoof Adil Khan a
respite from war in that quarter. '

Dustoor Khan relates, that the victory was gained by the
following stratagem: Yoosoof Adil Khan, after the disorder of his
troops, sent a messenger to Timraj entreating peace, and offering
to acknowledge allegiance to the Ray for the country he held; upon
which the minister and the Ray came, attenled by three or four
hundred followers and their principal nobility, to a conference in
the field, when Yoosoof Adil Khan fell upon them by surprise
with his whole army and routed them, killing seventy persons of
rank. Their troops, alarmed at the death of their chiefs, fled, and
loft to be plundered by the victors. Yoosoof Adil Khan, after
his success, conferred on Raab Jung Bahadur Khan fifty elephants
with one lack of hoons, and detached him with a force to reduce
the forts of Moodkul and Rachore: which having effected in the
space of forty days, the King returned to his capital of Beejapoor
This victory added greatly to his wealth, strengthened his power.
amd confirmed his authority. It is said, however, that he paii
Mabmood Shah the compliment of sending to him two splendid
vests, the borders of which were adorned with precious stones, two
hors s shod with gold, and saddles and bridles set with jewels, with
sn oikcial report of his success.

Ycosoof Adil Khan was preparing to march against Jumkindy.
which Pahadur Geelany had taken from him, when Mahmood
Shah, i consequence of complaints from the King of Guzerat,
resolved to march in person against the latter chief; on which
oceasion Yoosoof Adil Khan sent his general, Kumal Khan Dec
cany, with five thousand horse to attend the Bahmuny monarch.
Jumkindy being taken, was delivered over to Yoosoof Adil Khan
and Bahadur Geelany was slain in action. When Mahmood Shah

14. Upwards of two millions of pounds sterling.
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returned from this expedition, Yoosoof Adil Khan weat forth to
meet him; and having conducted him into Beejapoor, then newly
surrounded with a wall of stone, entertained him for ten days with
great splendour. On his departure, he presented him with twenty
elephants, fifty horses, four bracelets set with jewels, and other
rare and valuable articles to a large amount. Mahmood Shah
having made choice of one elephant, sent back the other articles,
with a private message, that as they would be seized by his minis-
ter Kasim Bereed, he returned them, to be kept for him in trust,
till such time as Yoosoof Adil Khan, like a faithful servant, should
deliver him from his trammels.

Yoosoof Adil Khan, though he had it in his power to effect
this object at once, did not think it desirable to do so; and answer-
ed, that such an undertaking could not succeed, unless Mullik
Ahmud Bheiry of Ahmudnuggur should agree in promoting it, as
also Imad-ool-Moolk of Gavulgur; and he promised, that when
Mahmood Shah reached his capital he would prevail upon those
chiefs to join with him in punishing the obnoxious minister. Mah-
mood Shah, satisfied with this declaration, departed for his capital;
but before he left Beejapoor, Yoosoof Adil Khan conveyed to him
privately a large sum of money, and also made considerable pre-
sents to Kasim Bereed and Kootb-ool-Moolk, who had attended
the King in the campaign.

In the year A.H. 901 (A.n. 1495), Dustoor Deenar, the Abys-
sinian eunuch, who held the districts of Koolburga, Sagur, Alund,
and other forts and districts between the river Beema and Tulin-
gana, aspired to establish his independence. For this purpose he
opened a communication with Mullik Ahmud Bheiry; observing,
that as Futteh Ooolla Imad-ool-Moolk had, in cencert with Yoo-
soof Adil Shah, assumed royal titles in Berar, it would be
consistent with his friendship to support him in doing the same.
Dustoor Deenar was the adopted son of Nizam-ool-Moolk, the
father of Mullik Ahmed Bheity, and thought, in consequence, he
had claims on his support Accordingly the eunuch, having
adopted the regal canopy, seiced many districts dependent on the
capital of Ahmudabad Bidur, and expelled the officers of Kasim
Bereed.

Kasim Bereed, on this occasion, demanded the assistance of
Yoosoof Adil Khan, who directed his general, Ghuzunftfr. Beg,
Duria Khan, and other chiefs, to join the King's army; writing to
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Mahmood Shah, at the same time, that he should have attended
in person, did he not forsee, in that case, that Mullik Ahmud
Bheiry would think it necessary to join Dustoor Deenar with his
whole force, a proceeding which would only prolong the war.
Soon after, however, intelligence being received that Khwaja Jehan
Deccany, at the instigation of Mullik Ahmud Bheiry, had moved
from Purenda towards Koolburga with a considerable force to aid
Dustoor Deenar, and that Mullik Ahmud was also preparing to
march, Yoosoof Adil Khan thought it proper to join his own army:
so that, after forming a junction with Mahmood Shah and Kasim
Bereed, the whole moved against Dustoor Deenar without delay.
The eunuch advanced to receive them with eight thousand horse,
mostly Abyssinians, and twelve thousand auxiliaries, sent by
Mullik Ahmud Bheiry under Khwaja Jehan of Purenda when, after
a severe action, Dustoor Deenar was defeated, and taken prisoner.
Mahmood Shah would have caused him to be put to death, at the
instance of Kasim Berced; but Yoosoof Adil Khan, not wishing
to strengthen the hands of the minister, interceded for his pardon,
and Koolburga was restored to him; after which Yoosoof Adil
Kban, without paying his respects to Mahmood Shah, returned
to Beejapoor, while the King and Dustoor Deenar repaired to their
respective capitals. Mullik Ahmud Bheiry, who had begun his
march to join the eunuch, hearing of the peace, returned to
Ahmudnuggur.

In the year A.H. 903 (A.D. 1497), Mahmood Shah solicited the
hand of Beeby Mussecty, the infant daughter of Yoosoof Adil
Khan, for his son Ahmud Shal, and fixing on Koolburga as a fit
place to celebrate the nuptials both princes repaired to that city,
an event which greatly offended Dustoor Deenar. Yoosoof Adil
Khan at this time intimated privately to Mahmood Shah, that if
he wished to displace Kasim Bereed, hc must cede to Beejapoor
the districts now belonging to Dustoor Deenar, which intervened
between his own territory and the estates of the minister: an ac-
quisition which would afford Yoosoof Adil Khan a plausible pre-
text for advancing troops into them, and give him an opportunity
of expelling Kasim Bereed, before Mullik Ahmud Bheiry. or any
-other person disposed to assist him, could hear of his design.
Mahmood Shah accordingly made out the requisite transfers, and
dispossessed the officers of Dustoor Deenar, who, unable to resist,
was obliged to consent to hold the rest of his districts subordinate
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to Sooltan Koolly Kootb Khan of Golconda. Kasim Bereed.
alarmed and offended at this proceeding, quitted Mahmood Shah,
and putting himself at the head of his dependents, retired to
Alund.

Yoosoof Adil Khan, upon this, moved with Mahmood Shah,
who was accompanied by Sooltan Koolly Kootb Khan, and Mullik
Elias, to reduce Kasim Bereed, whom they defeated near the town
of Gunjowty, and the fugitives took shelter in various forts. After
the victory, a rich carpet of cloth of gold was spread on the field,
and Mahmood Shah taking Yoosoof Adil Khan by the hand, com-
manded him to sit, an honour he declined to accept, till after be-
ing repeatedly pressed. Here it was determined, that, on the
following year, the allies should march and effectually subvert the
power of Kasim Bereed. Mullik Elias fell in the action; and
Yoosoof Adil Khan conferred his estates upon his eldest son,
Mahomed, with the title of Ein-ool-Moolk, and quitting Mahmood
Shah returned to Beejapoor.

On the following year, Yoosoof Adil Khan marched against
Dustoor Deenar; but Mullik Ahmud Bheiry coming to his assist-
ance, Yoosoof retired towards Bidur, where he received assurances
of support from Sooltan Koolly Kootb Khan and Imad-ool-Moolk
of Berar; on which Dustoor Deenar and Mullik Ahmud retired
without hazarding an action to their respective capitals. On his
return to Beejapoor, Yoosoof Adil Khan sent embassies to Mullik
Ahmud Bheiry and to Imad-ool-Moolk; observing, that the Dec-
can was too small a country to maintain so many indepeudent
chiefs that therefore they three should, out of regard to their own
security, unite and endeavour to occupy the whole country. After
much discussion it was resolved, that Imad-ool-Moolk should have
Mahoor, Ramgur, and all the territory then in possession of
Khodawund Khan the Abyssinian; that Mullik Ahmud should
have Dowlutabad, Antorc, Galna, and the eountry beyond those
forts as far as the borders of Guzerat; that Yoosoof Adil Khan,
for his share, might seize the territories of Dustoor Deenar and
Ein-ool-Moclk; that Kasim Bereed should be allowed to take the
country of Sooltan Koolly Kootb-ool-Moolk, as an appanage to
the capital of Ahmudabad Bidur, and its dependencies. Bv this
treaty it was understood that the contracting powers were not to
interfere with the plan now proposed, but, on the contrary, if neces-
sary, unite to enforce it. .



YOOSOOF ADIL SHAH 1t

Yoosoof Adil Khan, in pursuance of this treaty, in order to
ascertain if Ein-ool-Moolk were content to be dependent on his
authority, despatched an order commanding him to his presence,
whereas he had always before addressed him on terms of eguality.
Ein-ool-Moolk received the order with joyful submission, declaring
that now he was convinced Yoosoof Adil Khan regarded him as
loyal, by putting his submission to the test. He made a festival
of a week in the fort of Goa on the occasion, and repaired with
six thousand horse to Beejapoor, where Yoosoof Adil Khan re-
ceived him as one of his subjects, exacting those salutations from
him made only to crowned heads, and then conferred on him an
honorary dress.

Dustoor Deenar, informed of the partition treaty which in-
cluded his destruction, applied to Ameer Bereed for aid, who had
just then succeeded his father in the office of a minister to Mah-
mood Shan II. Ameer Bereed, accordingly, sent three thousand
horse to his assistance; and Dustoor Deenar encamped on the
banks of the Bheema, where he was joined by Khwaja Jehan of
Purenda, and his brother Zein Khan, and had also been excluded
by Mullik Ahmud from the partition treaty. They brought with
them five thousand horse. Mullik Ahmud Bheiry was at this time
engaged in taking Dowlutabad, and defending himself against
invasions from Guzerat.

Yoosoot Adil Khan, unmoved by the superiority of the
enemy’s numbers collected his troops, and liberally distributing
among them the booty he had taken from the Beejanuggur army.
marched from Beejapoor, and encamped within ten miles of the
enemy. The day following he prepared his army for battle, send-
ing on an advanced corps of two thousand select cavalrv, under
Mahomed Koolly Beg, brother of Ghuzunfur Beg, with directions
to encamp within two miles of the enemy, and divert their attention
by skirmishing parties. At the same time he sent a message to
Dustoor Deenar, assuring him, that should he consent to submit
and acknowledge his supremacy. both he and his dependents
should reccive the highest favour under his government; but if
impelled by folly to reject his offer, he must abide the fate of war.

Dustoor Deenar, refusing the proffered terms, detached a
large body of Abyssinian cavalry to attack the advanced corps of
Yoosoof Adil Khan; but they were defeated with great slaughter,
and many elephants and horses fell into the hands of the victors.
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Yoosoof Adil Khan, the next morning advancing on the enemy,
drew up his army near their camp in the following order :
Ghuzunfur Beg commanded the right wing, Heidur Beg Tubreezy
the left, and Mirza Jehangeer Koomy had charge of the pickets,
while the King with a select guard took post in the centre. Dustoor
Deenar, also, confident in his numbers, drew out his troops, mostly
covered with iron armour, according to the practice in use in the
Indian mode of warfare, disposing his elephants in different parts,
and all his battering engines in front. Mirza Jehangeer advanced
first, with the velocity of lightning, on the enemy, while Ghuzunfur
Beg and Heidur Beg charged, at the same time from the right and
left, with such fury that nothing could withstand their impetuosity.
By the will of the Eternal One, Dustoor Deenar fell in this attack,
and his troops fled, overwhelmed with terror. Ghuzurifur Beg,
who had received a severe wound, approaching Yoosoof Adil
Khan, knelt down with the rest of the nobles, and performed the
ceremonies of congratulation, and waved money and jewels over
his head, as is customary after victory. Yoosoof Adil Khan, kiss-
ing his eyes and forehead, clasped his brave foster-brother in his
embrace, and superintended the dressing of his wounds, but alil
was vain; for, according to the declaration of holy writ. the

“When death comes, we cannot arrest him for one instant,”

hero, after three days and nights, having sipped of the cup of
martyrdom, departed to the world eternal.

Yoosoof Adil Khan was deeply afflicted at this loss; but
having performed the funeral rites, roused himself and took
Koolburga, Sagur, and all the forts and territories of the late
Dustoor Deenar, which he delivered to officers in whom he could
confide, and then returned in triumph to Beejapoor. On his
arrival in that city, he raised Mirza Jehangeer and Heidur Beg
to the highest rank of nobility, for their gallantry in the late
action, and conferred honours and gifts on all the officers and
soldiers who had distinguished themselves during the war.

Having now attained the summit of his wishes, Yoosoof Adil
Khan resolved to perform a religious vow, which he had deter-
mined on in his mind for many years. For this purpose, in
the year A.H. 908 (A.D. 1502), he held a council of his principal
subjects, and calling Mirza Jehangeer and Heidur Beg, who were
of the Sheea sect, as also Syud Ahmud Hirvy and other learned
men of that persuasion, to him, addressed them, saying, that
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when the Prophet, appeared to him in a vision, and hailed him
with the presage of his present dignity, he then made a vow,
that if his dream should ever be fulfilled, to promulgate the faith
of the Imans,’® and grace the pulpit with proclamation of their
titles; that also, when Timraj and Bahadur Geelany invaded his
territories, and nearly seized the rcins of government from his
hands, he had renewed this vow; he thereforc wished to have
their opinions, whether the present was not a fit time for its
performance.

The assembly unanimousiy broke out into prayers for the
prosperity of his house. Some of those present approved of his
devout intention, while others, more prudent, obscrved, that his
power was yet but in infancy; that Mahmood Shah, though weak,
was slill the acknowledged lawful monarch of the Deccan; that
most even among his own nobles were Toorks, Deccanies, and
Abyssinians of the Soony persuasion, as were also the surrounding
kings of the Deccan, such as Mullik Ahmud Nizam-ool-Moolk
Bheiry, Ameer Bereed, and others, who were all zealous for their
faith; thercfore that it was more than probable an opposition too
great to be overcome by his single power would attend any innova-
tion of the established religion. Yoosoof Adil Shah, after a short
pause, replied, that he had made a vow to God who had raised
him by his goodness to royal power, and he did not doubt but on
its fulfilment the same gracious arm would uphold him. At this
instant news arrived that Shah Ismael Sufvy'™ of Persia had
established the Sheea doctrines throughout his dominions, which
confirmed Yoosoof Adil Khan, who was a disciple of that house,
in his determination, and he tcok measures without delay to carry
his project into cxecution.

On an appointment day, he accordingly went in great state
to the grand mosque in the citadel of Beejapoor: and Nukeeb
Khan, one of thc venerable syuds of Medina, by his command as-
cending the pulpit, cried aloud, in calling to prayer, according to
the custom of the Sheeas, I bear testimony that Ally is the
friend of God,” after which hc read the Khootba'? in the names
of the tweive Tmans. Yoosoof Adil Shah was the first prince

15. The Sheea persuasion.
16. The Sophi of western literature.
17. The prefatory prayer previous to the established prayers from

the Koran.
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who dared to perform these ceremonies publicly in Hindoostan.
Notwithstanding this bold attempti, he had the prudence not to
permit the populace to utter scandalous and abusive epithets
against the Sahiba,'" so that fanaticism was prevented from spread-
ing .its baneful venom. The learned disciples of Jafur, and those
eminently verscd in the tenets of Mahomed Huneef, and of the
Shafye persuasion, lived together in friendship; and in mosques
of different sects cach worshipped .the true God according to
his own belief, without interfering in the ceremonies of the other.
The holy teachers and pious recluses were equally astonished
at this well-rcgulated moderation, and attributed it to an almost
miraculous ability in the wise King. The author of these sheets
recollects an anecdotc applicable to the toleration practised by
some kings, which he thinks proper to insert for the informa-
tion of his readers. '

Mowlana Gheias-ood-D2en, a celebrated divine of Persia,
much respected for his abilities and purity of life, was once
asked by Ibrahim Adil Shah, which was the best of all the
various sects of Islam?  He replied, “*Suppose a great monarch
to bc seated in a palace, with many gales leading to it, and
through whichever you cnter you see the King, and can obtain
admission to his presence, ~your business is with the Prince,
and not with those at his gate.” Ibrahim Adil Shah again
asked him, which, in his opinicn, was the best of all faiths? He
replied, that, in his opinion, the best man of every faith fol-
lowed the best faith. This observation pleased the King, who
confcrred upon the Mowlana large gifts.

Yoosoof Adil Shah having rcad the Khootba according to
the ceremonial of the Sheeas, and cstablished their tenets at
Becjapoor, many of the principal chicfs, such as Duria Khan,
i'ukhr-o0o!-Moolk, Toork and others, embraced the same tenets
as their sovereign, but some being rigid Soonies refused, and
cven expressed a wish to quiet his service. Yoosoof Adil Shah,
when informed of the state of public feeling, permitted each per-
son the free exercise of the doctrine, “‘My faith for myself, and
vour faith for yourself,” which at length gave universal satisfac-
tion. At this time, the King becoming jealous of the increas-

18. The Suhiba arc the three first caliphs who were the means of
excluding Allv. viz. Aboo Bucer. Oothman, and Oomur, against whom
the Sheene mrs dnvas oo
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ing influence of Ein-ool-Moolk Geelany, deprived him of the
command he held in the army; and resuming the district he had
possessed during his father’s life, allotted to him for his private
support Hookery and Belgam in their stead, with permission to
retire from court and follow his own opinions in religious mat-
ters. All the Soony nobles were also allowed (o read the
Khootba, within their own jageers, in the names of the Sahiba,
and no opposition was made to the exercise of their own mode
of worship publicly. But in spite of these indulgences, the King
found it necessary to observe a strict watch over the chiefs of
the Soony persuasion.

Mullik Abmud Bheiry and Ameer Bereed, who were strict
and zealous followers of the Soonut, were alarmed at the in-
novation on the established faith of the Deccan, and spoke of it
in reproachful terms. At length, forming an alliance, they in-
vaded the territory of Yoosoof Adil Shah. Ameer Bereed
seized on Gunjowty, and meny districts taken from Dustoor
Deenar, while Mullik Ahmud Bheiry sent ambassadors to Beeja-
poor peremptorily demanding the surrender of the fortress of
Nuldroog. Yoosoof Adil Shah, incensed at this wanton attack
on his dominions, sent back an answer full of indignation, and
marching at once on Gunjowty recovered it forthwith. Mahmood
Shah Bahmuny and Ameer Bereed now made application for
aid to Sooltan Koolly Kootb-ool-Moolk, Imad-ool-Moolk, and
Khodawund Khan Hubshy. Sooltan Koolly, though secretly of
the Sheea persuation, yet in conformity with the spirit of the
times, and by the advice of his officers, moved towards the camp
of Mahmood Shah; but Imad-ool-Moolk and Khodawund Khan
framed excuses, and did not join the league. Ameer Beresd
now despatched his own son Jehangeer Khan to Ahmudnuggur,
with such urgent remonstrances, that Mullik Ahmud Bheiry was
induced to march with ten thousand horse and a train of artillery;
which, added to the troops of Ameer Bereed and Sooltan Koolly
Kootb-o0ol-Moolk, composed a formidable army, of which Mah-
mood Shah was nominally the leader. Yoosoof Adil Shah,
thinking it unsafe to engage in a pitched battle with the inferior
force at his command, sent his son Ismael, then an infant of
five years old, with all his treasures and elephants, from Aluad
to Beejapoor, committing the care of that city and the sole
direction of affairs to Kumal Khan Deccany. Having stationed
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Duria Khan and Fukhr-ool-Moolk Toork to protect Koolburga,
he himsclf, attended by Ein-ool-Moolk Geelany, and many
foreign officers, together with an army consisting of six thousand
borse firmly devoted to him, marched towards Beer, burning
and destroying the country as he passed. Mullik Ahmud Bheiry,
finding his territory thus pillaged, moved with Mahmood Shah
Bahmuny and the allics in pursuit of the enemy. Yoosoof Adil
Shah had taken this step to prevent the war being carried into
his own country; and though he avoided a general action, he
hovered around the allied army, harassed their followers, and
cut off their supplies. Finding this plan not sufficiently suc-
cessful, and his troops being exhausted with fatigue, after first
plundering the environs of Dowlutabad, he penetrated into Berar,
relying on the friendship of Imad-ool-Moolk. This chief was
at the time encamped with his army near Gavul, resolved to
maintain a strict neutrality, and to attend merely to the protec-
tion of his own country. Yoosoof Adil Shah, however, was re-
ceived with kindness; but Imad-ool-Moolk, apprehensive that
the allies would invade Berar, if he openly espoused the cause
of Yoosoof Adil Shah, advised him to retire for the present to-
wards Boorhanpoor, till some plan could be devised of dissolv-
ing the league formed against him; he recommended him also,
strongly, by way of conciliating his cnemies, to order the Soony
rites to be re-established in Beejapoor. Yoosoof Adil Shah saw
the necessity of compliance, and sent orders to that effect to
Kumal Khan. Meanwhile, taking leave of Imad-ool-Moolk,
Yoosoof Adil Shah proceeded to Boorhanpoor, where he was
received with due respect by the ruler of Kandeish.
Imad-ool-Moolk, on his part, deputed one of his nearest
relations to Mullik Ahmud Bheiry, and to Sooltan Koolly
Kumal Khan. Meanwhile, taking leave of Imad-ool-Moolk,
made religion a pretext to destroy Yoosoof Adil Shah, in order
that he might secure Beejapoor for himself; and Imad-ool-Moolk
added, that if Ameer Bereed, now master only of a small terri-
tory, was enabled to eflect so much in the name of the King,
the subversion of their own independence in the Deccan would,
in the event of any great accession of dominion, necessarily fol-
low. He, moreover, observed, that no man had any right to
interfere in the religious concerns of another, since every dne
would be rendered accountable for his actions on the day of
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judgment. Setting aside, however, this argument, Yoosoof Adil
Shah had now formally retracted his profession of the Sheea
doctrines, and had sent orders to restore the Soony rites in
Beejapoor, so that no fair pretence now remained for continu-
ing the war. Imad-ool-Moolk, therefore strongly recommended
the confederates, instead of weakening themselves and becoming
the dupes of an artful minister, to retire to their own dominions.
Mullik Ahmud Bheiry and Sooltan Kooly Kootb-ool-Moolk, who
paid great respect to the advice of this aged and experienced
statesman, were convinced by his argumcnts, and retreated
suddenly one night, without even taking leave of Mahmood
Shah.
Ameer Bereed, not aware of the reasons which led to this
desertion of his allies, applied to Imad-ool-Moolk for his assis-
tance to invade Beejapoor, and suffered himself to be detained
some days by idle negotiations, till Yoosoof Adil Shah arrived
at Gavul from Boorhanpoor. Amecer Berced now perceived the
. danger of his situation, and instantly fled with the King, attended
only by a few followers, leaving his camp standing, which was
plundered by the Berar troops. Yoosoof Adil Shah, having
taken leave of Imad-ool-Moolk, returned to Beejapoor after an
absence of three months; and being no longer apprehensive of
his enemics, he renewed the public exercise of the Sheea reli-
gion, and inclined his mind to the improvement of his country,
without meditating further conquests. At this time he sent Syud
Ahmud Hirvy, with presents and declarations of attachment, to
Shah Ismael Sufvy, King of Persia, with an account of his suc-
cess in establishing the Sheea religion.

In the year A.H. 915 (AD. 1510), the Christians*® surprised
the town of Goa, and put to death the governor, with many
Mussulmans. On receiving ir:telligence cf this event Yoosoof
Adil Shah marched with three thousand chosen men, composed
of Deccanies and foreigners, with such expedition, that he sur-
prised the Europeans, retook the fort, and put many to death;*

19. According to Faria-e-Souza, vol. i. chap. v., Albuquerque attack-
ed Goa. which was defended by one Yakoot, a Georgian, but it was
eventually surrendered, 20th February, 1510, by Mecer Ally. The Portu-
guese found it well stored with cannon.

20. The Portuguecse state that it was retaken in May, after a siege
of twenty days. by Kumal Khan, the general of Ismael Adil Shah, which
is probably correct.
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though some made their escape to sea in their ships. Having
provided for the security of Goa, Yoosoof Adil Shah returned
to Beejapoor, and died in that city of a dropsy, in the seventy-
fifth year of his age, after having reigned with great prosperity
twenty-one years. Shah Tahir relates that he was informed by
Syud Ahmud Hirvy, who long lived at his court, that Yoosoof
Adil Shah was a wise prince, intimately acquainted with human
nature; that he was handsome in person eloquent in speech, and
alike eminent for his learning, his liberality, and his valour. Hs
wrote elegantly, and was a good judge of poetical composition,
and even sometimes wrote verses himself. His taste and skill in
music were superior to those of most of the masters of his time,
whom he encouraged by munificent rewards to attend his court:
he himself performed to admiration on two or three instruments,
and in his gay moments would sing improvisatore compositions.
Although he mingled pleasure with business, yet he never allowed
the former to interfere with the latter. He always warned his
ministers to act with justice and integrity, and in his own person
showed them an example of attention to these virtues. He invited
to his court many learned men and valiant officers from Persia,
Toorkistan, and Room, also several eminent artists, who lived
happy under the shadow of his bounty. In his reign the citadel of
Beejapoor was built of stone.

When Yoosoof Adil Khan first established his independence,
he heard that one Mookund Row Marhatta and his brother, who
had both been officers under the Bahmuny government, had with
a number of peasants fled and taken up a strong position among
the hills, with the determination of opposing his authority: he
accordingly marched against them at the head of two thousand
cavalry, and five thousand infantry: they were defeated, and their
families fell into the hands of the King. Among these was the
sister of Mookund Row, whom Yoosoof afterwards espoused, and
gave her the title of Booboojee Khanum. By this lady he had
three daughters and one son, Ismael, who succeeded to the throne.
Of the three daughters, Muryum,?* the eldest, married Bocrhan
Nizam Shah Bheiry of Ahmudnuggur: Khoodeija, the second,
married Alla-ood-Deen Imad-ool Moolk, King of Gavul and Berar;
and Beeby Musseety, the third, married Ahmud Shah Bahmuny
at Koolburga, as has been related. -

21. Mary.
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[SMAEL ADIL SHAH, on his accession, being too young to direct
the affairs of the kingdom, the sole administration was intrusted
to Kumal Khan Deccany. This chief had been one of the nobles
of the court of Sooltan Mahmood Shah Bahmuny II.; but on
Yoosoof Adil Shah assuming independence, he came over to his
interests, and was appointed Meer Nobut. After this period,
showing distinguished gallantry in the battle against Timraj, he
rose in favour and influence till he became prime minister.
Yoosoof Adil Shak, on his death-bed, enjoined him to become
regent during the minority of his son, and earnestly entreated Duria
Khan, Fukhr-ool-Moolk, Mirza Jehangeer, Heidur Beg, and the
rest of his officers, to maintain a strict friendship with him, as
also among themselves. On this account they respect Kumal Khan
as their superior, and leaving all affairs to direction obeyed him
as regent.

Kumal Khan, on assummg his new dignity, evinced great good
sense by restoring the exercise of the Soony religion, a measure by
which he gained the affections of the people, and secured by his
affability the support and attachment of the nobility. He culti-
vated the friendship of the neighbouring princes, such as Ahmud
Nizam Shah, Sooltan Koolly Kootb Shah, and Ameer Bereed Shah.
He also made peace with the Europeans, who, after the retreat
of Yoosoof Adil Shah, had besieged Goa, and regained posses-
sion by giving large bribes to the governor. This event occurred
on the accession of the infant King, and it was finally agreed
that the Europeans should retain Goa, on condition of their
not molesting the other towns and districts on the seacoast.
Accordingly since that time the Portuguese have kept possession
of Goa, and observing the treaty, have not made any farther
encroachments on the Adil Shahy territory.

Kumal Khan, after thus setting the affairs of the kingdom,
continued regent for some time. Meanwhile, Duria Khan and
Fukhr-ool-Moolk dying, he divided their jageers among his own

" relatives and dependents, besides procuring for them honours and
public employment. At the same time he deprived Mirza Jehan-
geer and Heidur Beg of some pergunas from their estates, to bestow
upon his followers. The lands of all officers who died, or of
persons convicted of treason, were confiscated, and he gave them
10 his own creatures. By these means Kumal Khan increased his
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power so greatly, that at last he became giddy with his elevated
station, and his evil genius prompted him to form schemes for
seizing the crown.

The ambition of treacherous ministers had already proved
fatal to the lawful kings of the Deccan. Timraj was the first
usurper: he had poisoned the young Raja of Beejanuggur, son of
Shew Ray, had rendered his infant brother the tool of his designs,
and, by degrees, overthrowing the ancient nobles, he at length
established his authority over the kingdom. Kasim Bereed and
others had rcduced Mahmood Shah II. to a mere pageant, and
at length caused their own names to be read in the Khootba:
Kumal Khan, also, tempted by these successful examples, having
obtained the requisite means for assuming independence, addressed
himself artfully to Ameer Bereed. He observed, that if he wished
to extend his possessions, a favourable opportunity now offered
itself. Ahmudnuggur was at present held by a weak infant, and
Imad-ool-Moolk, the sovereign of Berar, immersed in the pleasurcs
of youth, had no inclination for military glory. Under these cir-
cumstances, Kumal Khan promised Ameer Bereed, that if he would
support his views on the crown of Beejapoor, he would in
return forward Ameer Bereed's views on Ahmudnuggur. The
‘latter heartily embraced the proposal, as he had been long sec-
retly seeking an opportunity to extend his power; a secret treaty
of offensive and defensive alliance was accordingly formed. It
was stipulated that all the country formerly taken from Dustoor
Dcenar, such as Koolburga, Alund, Gunjowty, and Nuldroog, as
far as the banks of the Beema, should be ceded to Ameer Bereed;
and that Beejapoor, Concan, Moodkul, and Rachore, with other
places, should remain in the hands of Kumal Khan, who might
depose, or even put to death, Ismael Adil Shah, and proceed,
if he chose, to reduce Sholapoor, and the country belonging to
Zein Khan.

Ameer Bereed, having first confined his sovereign Mahmood
Shah II. to his palace, moved to Koolburga; and Kumal Khan,
imprisoning Ismael Adil Shah, with his mother Booboorjee
Khanum, in the citadel of Beejapoor, marched with a force to
Sholapoor, which he besieged for three months; and no relief
coming from Ahmudnuggur, Zein Khan, on receiving secu_rity
for the safety of his family and wealth, delivered it into his hands,
together with five and a half districts, of which he had charge.
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The cause of this distribution was as follows :—When the nobles
of the Bahmuny dynasty threw off their allegiance, they each
seized on the districts they then held in trust. Khwaja Jehan
Deccany, at that time governor of Purenda, had eleven districts
under him. His brother Zein Khan, governor of Sholapoor,
laid claim to half of the eleven districts, and he even
endeavoured to obtain royal grants from Bidur to that effect;
but Khwaja Jeban, supported by Boorhan Nizam Shah of
Ahmudnuggur, was enabled to retain the whole, and to
oppose successfully the pretcnsion of Zein Khan at the court
of Bidur. At length, on the death of Ahmud Shah Bahmuny,
Yoosoof Adil Shah marched against Khwaja Jehan, and com-
pelled him to cede five and a half of the eleven districts to his
brother Zein Khan. Ameer Berced, who was now besieging
Koolturga, after receiving from the Adil Shahy officers the places
ceded to him by Kumal Khan, sent him a congratulatory letter
on his success at Sholapoor; upon which the Regent, more
haughty than before, returned to Beejapoor to complete his
usurpation, by dethroning his sovereign, and usurping the king-
dom. .

On his arrival at Beejapoor, he brought the young King once
into durbar for form's sake. to receive the compliments of the
court. To strengthen his own party, he reduced the number of
the Khaskheil, or royal guards, from three thousand foreign
troops to three hundred, commanding the rest to quit Beejapoor
in a week, under penalty of death, and forfeiture of their pro-
perty to the state. The unfortunate exiles hastened with all speed
to various parts to avoid such tyranny. The Regent having
thus removed the chief obstacle to his accession, next adopted
the practice of the court of Nizam Shah, and caused the officers
of a thousand horse to be styled commanders of three thousand.
He also raised a vast number of G’hora Rawoot,** till at length,
having an army of twenty thousand horse devoted to his service,
he called together his creatures on the 1st of Suffur, in the year
A.H. 917 (April 29, ap. 1511), to consult with them regarding
a lucky day for deposing Ismacl Adil Shah, and for causing his

22. Marratta horsemen, who received their pay annually, and were
bound to appear fully equipped for service whenever called on. They
provided their own horses, accoutrements, and arms, and maintained
themselves.
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own name to be read in the Khootba at Be¢japoor. After much
debate, the first of the ensuing month, Rubbee-ool-Awul, was
fixed as the time propitious to his designs, he little supposing that
the recorders of fate were then penning the concluding pages
of the journal of his vainglorious life.

The young King and his mother were much alarmed at the
intelligence of the Regent’s intentions; and though the number
of their friends was small, they contrived a plan to avert the
danger. God having decreed the preservation of the Adil Shahy
family, and the long continuation of its royal power, the astro-
logers represented to Kumal Khan, that the appearance of the
heavenly bodies indicated certain days of the present month as
unfavourable to his designs, he would, therefore, do well to avoid
approaching any persons of whom he had the least suspicion.
Fully impressed with these observations, the Regeat committed
the charge of the city to his own dependents; and having chosen
an apartment in the citadel, close to the royal palace, shut him-
self up with his own family and ofticers, keeping the gates of
the fort strongly barred within, and having guards without. After
taking these precautions, he remained in one room for some days,
pretending to suffer under a severe head-ache, vainly thinking by
these precautions to evade that fate to which he was destined.
The measures adopted by the Protector proved favourable to a
plan which the Queen-mother had formed to destroy him. In
order to carry it into cffect, she applied to Yoosoof Toork, the
foster-father of Ismael Adii Shah, who had been treated with
great indignity by the Regent, and who mortally hated him, to
be her agent in the business. This oid officer entered into the
Queen’s plan, saying, that hc would undertake to slay the Regent
at all risks, and regretted that instead of one life he had not a
thousand to sacrifice for his prince; for though it was clear one
man could effect little against eight thousand Deccanies and Abys-
sinians, yet as he knew his life would be taken the instant Kumal
Khan ascended the throne, he was willing to render it up as a
sacrifice for his sovereign, and desired to be informed how he
could be useful.

The Queen now sent for an old female attendant of her own,
whom she knew to be employed as a spy upon her actions by
Kuma: Khan, and pretended to be under great uneasiness -at the
report of the Regent’s indisposition. She desired the old female
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to take a sum of money, as a wave-offering for his recovery, and
to make enquiries regarding his health. When the old woman
left her, and had gone some paces, the Queen called her back,
as if suddenly recollecting something, and said that her faithful
servant Yoosoof Toork was very much depressed in spirits, and
wished to go on pilgrimage to Mecca; she, therefore, desired
the old female to take him with her, and to prevail on Kumal
Khan to grant him leave, and to give him, as usual, a pan** of
dismissal with his own bhand, telling the Regent she should re-
gard it as a personal favcur. The female consented; and going
first n to Kumal Khan, delivered the Queen’s offering and mes-
sage in such a manner, that the Protector was highly pleased,
and gave orders to admit Yoosoof. The Toork approaching,
according to custom, with great respect and humility, made his
obeisance, and uttered scveral flattering speeces, which pleased
Kumal Khan, who calling him nearer to him, stretched out his
hand to give him a pan. Yoosoof putting his hands under the
cloth that covered his shoulders, advanced as if to receive it.
The Protector stretched ferth his hand to put the pin on the
cloth, when Yoosoof, with the qulckness of lightning, drawmg
a dagger concealed beneath the cloth, stabbed Kumal Khan in
the breast with all his force, so that he fell down and expired
immediately with a loud groan; upon which the attendants rush-
ing in cut the assassin to pieces with their swords, as also the
old woman, whom they concluded had acted in concert with
him.

The mother of Kumal Khan, a woman of masculine spirit,
commanded the attendants to refrain from clamour; and placing
the body dressed out, supported by pillows on a musnud, in a
balcony of the palace, as if to receive compliments from the
court, instructed the Prctector’s son, Sufdur Khan, to go down
and tell the guards it was his father’s orders to surround the
royal apartments and to seize Ismael Adil Shah. She sent orders
also to the troops without the citadel to enter the city, and pay
their compliments to the Regent as their sovereign prince.

Sufdur Khan, conceiving the force within sufficient to take
the young King prisoner, closed the gates of the citadel, and with

23. The presentation of the aromatic leaf called pin, by the King.
on taking leave, is a form as common as that of Kkissing hands in

Europe.
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his relatives and followers armed with musketry, sabres, spears,
bows and arrows, advanced to the apartments where the Prince
resided with his mother and family. The Queen apprehending
that Yoosoof had failed in his attempt, and that Kumal Khan
out of resentment had hastened his operations to dethrone her
son, thought it prudent to pretend ignorance of Yoosoof’s de-
sign, and to endeavour to avert the storm by flattery and sub-
mission. But the King’s foster-aunt, Dilshad Agha, who had
lately come from Persia to Hindoostan in the latter part of the
reign of Yoosoof Adil Shah, remarked, that, in such a crisis as
the present, valour and fortitude would be of more avail than
submission. She instantly ordered the palace-gates to be shut,
and sent out her eunuch, Mullik Sundul, to the few of her coun-
trymen on duty in the outer court of the seraglio, informing
them, that Kumal Khan, with a view of deposing Ismael Adil
Shah their sovereign, who was of the same country as them-
selves, was advancing to assassinate him and the whole of the
royal family. She entreated them, therefore, that if they were
men, they would not regard the superiority of the enemy, but
valiantly assist their Prince against the traitor, who, by the divine
blessing, would be overwhelmed in the enormity of his accursed
ingratitude.

The foreign guards declared their resolution to defend their
young sovereign, and both Dilshad Agha and Booboojee
Khanum (the Queen-mother) now came out, dressed as men,
and clad in armour, with bows and arrows in their hands, at-
tended by the young King, Ismael Adil Shah, who had the yellow
umbrella of his father held over him by a Toorky female, name
Moortufa.

Meanwhile Sufdur Khan, the Regent’s son, who was en-
deavouring to force the gates, was opposed by the Toorks with
arrows from the palace wall. The young King, as well as the
women, assisted, but the enemy’s superiority was so great, that
the party of brave Toorks had little chance. Many of them
were killed by musket-balls, and the rest falling back, a moumn-
ful cry of despair ensued. At this instant, Moostufa Khan and
Sikundur Khan Koomy, who had formeriy the charge of the
citadel, (and whom Kuwal Khan, thinking weak and insignifi-
cant, had not thought worth while to expel), hearing of the dis-
turbance, hastened with fifty Deccany matchlock-men to the foot
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-of the palace wall, and hailing Dilshad Agha ascended the ter-
race, and joined the royal party. The minister’s party, though
now kept in check, could not effectually be repulsed. Many
persons continued to fall on both sides; and Dilshad Agha sent a
servant privately over the wall in to the city, to inform all the
foreigners of the danger to which their King was exposed, en-
treating them to hasten to his assistance, promising to admit
them over a bastion behind the palace. The rebels not having
secured this spot, many of the King’s friends ascended by ropes
thrown over to them by this enterprising fcmale for the purpose,
till at last the party in the palace amounted to one hundred and
fifty foreign archers, fifty matchlock-men, nineteen Toorky slaves,
and twenty-five Abyssinians. Dilshad Agha, with a veil on her
head, fought with them, and by animating speeches encouraged
their exertions, promising that the King would reward them all
with high honours. Sufdur Khan, perceiving that the numbers
within increased, secured the approaches to the palace to prevent
more from entering, and made a desperate attack with five hun-
dred men, bringing cannon also to batter. down the walls. Many
of the besieged fell at this time, and almost all the Deccanies
and Abyssinians threw themselves over the battlements and fled.
The foreigners now concealed themselves, and remained silent
behind the parapet wall. Sufdur Khan, concluding they had
fled, broke open the outer gate of the palace, and entered the
court, but while endeavouring to force the irner door the gallant
Dilshad caused a volley of shot and arrows to be discharged from
the terrace, which did great execution, killing and wounding
some of the principal men of the minister’s party. An arrow
also pierced the eye of Sufdur Khan, who ran under a wall over
which the King himself was standing; and the royal youth, know-
ing his person, rolled down a heavy stone from the terrace, which
crushed him to death as he lay couched to avoid the shot. The
troops, seeing their chief killed, ran to the house of Kumal
Khan, where they now learned that he also was dead, upon which
they opened the gates of the citadel, and fled in different direc-
tions. Khoosrow Khan Toork, a faithful slave of the late king,
perceiving the numbers of the enemy, without to be considerable,
shut the gates again; and, at the suggeston of Dilshad, sent out
the heads of the minister and his son with a guard by a sally-
port, to be displayed through the streets of the city, for the in-
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formation of the people. Mahomed Ein-ool-Moolk (who had
given his daughter to Sufdur Kban in marriage), together with
all the principal friends of the Regent, quitting their houses, made
their escape out of the city. At length, the capital being claered
of the rebels, the King came out with the body of his foster-
father Yoosoof, which he caused to be deposited near the torab
of the venerable Ein-ood-Deen Jooneidy; and after distributing
alms, he ordered a dome to be erected over the remains of his
faithful servant, and a mosque to be built, for the maintenance
of which public lands were allotted. During his whole reiga,
Ismael Adil Shah went constantly once a month to visit this
tomb. :

Early the next morning, the King ascended the throne, and
gave public audience; on which occasion all the officers of the
court and the inhabitants of the city ‘paid their respects, and
made offerings according to their rank and ability. Letters were
despatched to the surrounding states, with an account of the
death of the Regent, and the fortunate emanicipation of the King.
Ameer Bereed, on receiving this information, raised the siege of
Koolburga; but Timraj, who had taken advantage of the times
to invade the King’s dominions, still continued before Rachore,
which at last surrendered to him, Ismael Adil Shah being too
much employed in establishing the authority of his government
to afford it timely relief.

The King’s first acts were to reward those who had assisted
him in the late crisis; he next sent letters to Mirza Jehangeer,
Raab-Jung, Heidur Beg, and other noblemea, who had fled from
the persecutions of Kumal Khan, inviting them to return to his
court, and resume their employments. With the magnanimity
becoming a great prince, he drew the pen of forgiveness over
the crimes of the Regent’s mother, and the rest of his family,
who had been taken prisoners; and giving them a considerable
sum of money, ordered them to quit his territories. The astro-
logers, who had so truly foretold the danger of Kumal Khan, he
took into his own employment. The veterans of his father now
assembling from all quarters, he soon collected a gallant body
of Toorks and Moguls. Khoosrow Toork, who had assisted in
his late deliverance, was honoured with the title of Assud“Khan,
and had Belgum conferred on him as a jageer. During his con-
finement, the King bad vowed not to enlist any Deccanies o
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Abyssinians in his service; and he kept kis word for nearly
twelve years, maintaining no other troops but foreigners, till at
length, at their request, he permitted the children of foreigners
born in India, to be received into the army, and afterwards, by
degrees, consented to enrol Afghans and Rajpoots, provided
they were not natives of the Deccan; a practice which was rigidiy
adhered to at the Adil Shahy court, till the reign of Ibrahim Adil
Shah 1L

Mirza Jehangeer, on his return to court, having the districts
of Koolburga conferred or him, expelled the forces of Amesr
Bereed, with the loss of four hundred men on their side; he also
retook the forts of Noosrutabad Sagur and Etgeer, and wholly
recovered all the country taken from Beejapoor during the re-
gency of Kumal Khan. Ameer Bereed, incensed at these losses,
issued orders in the name of Mahmood Shah to all the sovereizns
of the Deccan, demanding assistance; upon which, Boorhan
Nizam Shah, Sooltan Koolly Kootb Shah, and Alla-ood-Decn
Imad Shah, each sent troops to join the Bahmuny standard; and
in the year A.H. 920 (A.D. 1514). Amcer Bereed obliged the
Bahmuny king to march from Ahmudabad Bidur, at the head
of the allies, consisting of twenty-five thousand horse, towards
Beejapoor, committing vast depredations on his route.

Ismael Adil Shah deemed it prudent to remain in his capi-
tal, permitting the enemy to advance without opposition to Alla-
poor, a town built by Yoosoof Adil Shah, within a mile and a
half of Beejapoor, when quitting the city at the head of twelve
thousand horse, all of whom were foreigners, he attacked the
allied forces. Notwithstanding the supcriority of the enemy in
numbers, the Beejapoor troops defeated them so completely, that
they fled, leaving behind them Mahmood Shah and his son, the
Prince Ahmud, who both fell from their horses during the action.
All the baggage of the fugitives fcll into the hands of the vic-
tors. Ismael Adil Shah, on hearing of the situation of the
princes, went to pay his respects to them : he made offerings of
horses, with furniture set in jewels, and proposed to conduct
them in magnificent palkies into Beejapoor, and to emancipate -
them from the oppression of Amcer Berced. Mahmood Shah.
however, not consenting to etter the city, encamped near Allapoor:
where he remained some time to recover of the bruises he had
sustained in his fall, and afterwards rcqucsted that Beeby Musscety,
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sister to Ismael Adil Shah, might now be married to his son
Ahmud, to whom she had formerly been betrothed. Ismael Adil
Shah giving his consent to the nuptials, the ancient city of Kool-
burga was fixed on for its celebration; and both kings repaired
thither, where the marriage ceremony was conducted with great
magnificence; and the bride being delivered to the Prince Ahmud,
Ismael Adil Shah sent an escort of five thousand cavalry to attend
the royal pair, accompanied by Mahmood Shah, to Ahmudabad,
which was deserted by Ameer Bereed on their approach. Mah-
mood Shah II, for some time, tasted the sweets of liberty, and
was released from the control of his minister; but the Beejapoor
troops no sooner left Bidur than Ameer Bereed returned, and -e-
sumed the charge of affairs as before.

Some years previous to these events, the King of Persia, Shah .
Ismael Sufvy, had sent ambassadors to the several states of Hin-
doostan, who had been received with due respect both by the Ray
of Beejanuggur and the King of Guzerat. At this time Mahmood
Shah, also, received an ambassador from him with proper atten-
tion, and wished to dismiss him with royal presents, but was
prevented by Ameer Bereed. In this dilemma the ambassador
wrote to Ismael Adil Shah, complaining of his being detained at
Ahmudabad Bidur. The King of Beejapoor demanded the dismis-
sal of the Persian ambassador, who, having obtained his audience
of leave, came to Beejapoor. where he was met by Ismael Adil
Shah at Allapoor. He was honoured with rich presents, and a
suitable escort attended him as far as the port of Dabul, from
whence he embarked on his return to Persia. The King of
Persia, in return for this attention to his ambassador, in the year
A.H. 925 (AD. 1519), deputed Ibrahim Beg Toorkman, an officer
of high rank, with letters and presents to Ismael Adil Shah :
among the latter was a sabre set with valuable jewels. The King
of Persia having in his letter addressed Ismael Adil Shah as an
indepertdent prince, he went twelve miles to meet the ambassador;
and being highly gratified at the flattering acknowledgment of his
sovereignty, he received Ibrahim Beg with extraordinary honours,
and commanded the officers of his army to wear scarlet caps,
having twelve points, a dress by which the followers of Shelkh
Suffy were distinguished. He also ordered, that on Fridays and
holidays a prayer should be recited at the mosques for the royal
family of Persia.
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In the year A.H. 927 (AD. 1519), Ismael Adil Shah made pre-
parations for marching to recover Moodkul and Rachore from the
Ray of Beejanuggur; who gaining early intelligence of his intention
moved with a great force, stationed his camp on the banks of the
Krishna, where he was joined by many of his tributaries; so that
his army amounted to at least fifty thousand horse, besides a vast
host of foot. The King would now have deferred his expedition,
as the enemy held possession of all the ferries of the Krishna, but
his tents being once pitched, he considered it would be undignified
to delay. He therefore marched with seven thousand cavalry,
composed entirely of foreigners, and encamped on the bank of the
river opposite to the Hindoos, waiting for the preparation of rafts
to cross and attack. Some days after his arrival, as he was re-
posing in his tent, he heard one of his courtiers without the screens,
reciting this verse : “Rise and fill the golden goblet with the wine
of mirth, before the quaficr shall be laid in dust.” The King, as
if inspired by the verse, called his favourites about him, and
spreading the carpet of joy, gave way to the pleasures of music
and wine. When the banquet had lasted longer than was reason-
able, and the effects of the liquor began to exercise their influence,
a fancy seized the King to pass the river and attack the enemy.
He accordingly ¢alled on his military officers to state the cause of
the delay in preparing the boats and rafts. He was told that one
hundred boats were already finished, and the rest would be ready
in a few days. The King, heated with the banquet, resolved to
cross immediately; and mounting his elephant, without making his
intentions known, proceeded to the river, as if to reconnoitre, but
suddenly gave orders for as many of his troops as could go to
embark on the rafts, directing others to follow him on clephants.
The officers in vain represented the imprudence and danger of this
precipitation; but the King, without reply, plunged his own ele-
phant into the stream, and was instantly followed by some of his
officers and soldiers, on about two hundred and fifty elephants.
By great good fortune all reached the opposite banks in safety,
and as many troops as could cross on the rafts and boats at two
embarkations had time to arrive before the enemy opposed him.
The Hindoos, however, were in such force as precluded every hope
of the King's success, with whom were not more than two thou_-
sand men to oppose thirty thousand. The heroes of Islam, as if
animated with one soul, behaved so gallantly, that above a thou-
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sand of the infidels fell, among whom was Sungut Ray, the chief
general of Beejanuggur. The Mahomedans, however, found them-
selves so harassed by cannon shot, musketry, and rockets, which
destroyed nearly half their numbers, that the survivors threw
themselves into the river, in hopes of escaping. Tursoon Bahadur
and Ibrahim Beg, who rode on the same elephant with their
King, drove the animal across the stream; but so rapid was
the current, that with the exception of that elephant and seven
others the rest were all drowned. The King’s rashness was
severely punished by so great a loss. He took a solemn vow
never to indulge again in wine till he had wiped away the stain
of this defeat; and for this purpose he bent his whole mind to
repair his misfortune. )

Mirza Jehangeer having fallen in the late action, the King had
recourse to the advice of Assud Khan as to the measures necessary
to retrieve his disaster. Assud Khan observed, that as his loss
was great, and the troops were dispirited, it would be advisable tc
return for the present to Beejapoor, and lay aside all thoughts of
revenge till he could strengthen himself by an alliance with Boor-
han Nizam Shah, and remove his natural enemy Ameer Bereed
from his border. These objects being once effected, the punish-
ment of the infidels might be subsequently accomplished. The
King approving this advice marched from the Krishna to Beeja-
poor; and conferring the dignity of Sipahsalar on Assud Khan,
added several districts to his jageer, and made him henceforward
his principal counsellor in all important affairs.

Syud Ahmud Hirvy, who had formerly been sent as ambas-
sador from Ismael Adil Shah to the King of Persia, was now
despatched in the same capacity to Ahmudnuggur, to cement the
bonds of friendship with that state; and being met near the city by
Shah Tahir and the principal nobles, he was introduced to Boor-
han Nizam Shah, and received with great honour. Letters and
civilities having been previously interchanged, it was determined,
that an interview should take place between the Kings of Beeja-
poor and Ahmudnuggur at the town of Sholapoor. On which
occasion, Boorhan Nizam Shah demanding the hand of Muryum.
the sister of Ismael Adil Shah, the nuptials were concluded with
due ceremony. Valuable presents, including elephants and horses,
were interchanged by both kings; and the rejoicings in honour of
this alliance continued during the whole month of Rujub, of the
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year A.H. 930 (May, A.0. 1524); after which, both kings took leave
of each other, and returned to their respective capitals.

It is asserted, that in the treaty of alliance formed on this
occasion Ismael Adil Shah consented to give up, as a marriage-
portion to his sister, the fort of Sholapoor?¢ with its tive and a half
districts taken hy the late regent from Zein Khan; but it is certain
this article was not immediately fulfilled. Boorhan Nizam Shah,
for some time, neglected noticing the omission; but in the next
year, having secured the co-operation of Imad Shah, King of Berar,
and of Ameer Bereed, Regent of Bidur, the confederates marched
with forty thousand men to besicge Sholapoor. and to occupy the
ceded districts.

Ismael Adil Shah, collecting ten thousand foreign cavalry,
moved to oppose the invasion; and both armies continued encamp-
cd during forty days between the forts of Sholapoor and Nuldroog,
at the distance of four miles from each other, without coming to
action. Threc thousand foreign bowmen of Ismael Adil Shah
were sent forth daily to hover round the enemy’s camp, and cut
ofl his supplies; in which service they were very successful. Khwaja
Jehan Deccany, governor of Purenda. in consequence, vexed with
the inactivity of Boorhan Nizam Shah, quitted the camp attended
by four thousand select Deccany cavalry, with the resolution of
surprising the Beejapoor archers. On the following evening, the
foreigners, as usual, took up their post for the night on the banks
of a rivulet, and having picketed their horses, were unarming, and
waiting for their servants to dress their food. At this time, when
the night had just shut in, Khwaja Jehan Deccany, with a recon-
noitring party, came upon them, but was discovered at a shor
distance from the outposts by a sentry, who gave the alarm. The
bowmen instantly took to their horses: but before they were all
mounted, Khwaja Jehan fell upon them, and killed about three
hundred; the rest owed their escape to the speed of their horses.
Khwaja Jehan’s Deccanies, after returning from the pursuit, came
to the spot on which the archers had been encamped, and dis-
mounting, employed themselves in plundering and in eating the
victuals which had been left in the pots on the fires. The Becja-

24. Purenda and Sholapoor, including cleven districts. were the
original estate of Fukhr-ool-Moolk. At his dcath his two sons, Khwaju
Jehan and Zein Khan, divided them; and the latter ceded them to Kumal
Khan, the Regent of Beejapoor, vide p. 2I.
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poories, stung by the disgrace of this shameful defeat, determined
on turning it to advantage, and concluding the enemy's army
might aiso be surprised, they resolved to make an attack on the
camp of Boorhan Nizam Shah. They accordingly moved direct
to his lines, and the sentinels, taking them for Khwaja Jehan’s
detaciument returning to camp, permitted them to pass. When in
the midst of the camp, the Beejapoor bowmen discharging their
arrows made great havoc, and pursued their route direct to the
tents of Boorban Nizam Shah. Confusion soon prevailed in every
quarter; friends could not be distinguished from foes; and the
bowmen, when sated with slaughter and plunder, retired with very
little loss. On the following morning, Ismael Adil Shah advanced
to give battle to the enemy while yet suffering from the terror occa-
sioned by the night-attack. Boorhan Nizarn Shah and Imad Shah
drew up their line, but in so great disorder and with such preci-
pitation, that they were unable to withstand the assault of the
Beejapoor troops. Imad Shah being charged by Assud Khan fled
from the field without scarcely making any opposition, and did not
halt, except a¢t night, till he reached his fort of Gawul in Berar.
Boorhan Nizam Shah was also on the point of giving way; but
- being timely reinforced by Ameer Bereed with six thousand fresh
horse, continued to oppose for some time longer. At last, Khoosh-
Geldy Agha and Ismael Agha, Toorky oflicers in the Beejapoor
service, gained the enemy's rear with two thousand horse, while
Assud Khan made a simultaneous attack on the right wing. These
assaults threw the enemy into utter confusion: and Boorhan Nizam
Shah, overcome by the weight of his armour, was nearly falling
from his horse through faintness. In this state of the action, some
Toorky slaves, observing the condition of the King of Ahmud-
nuggur, led his horse off the field, and the rout of his army inst-
antly succeeded. About three thousand of the Armudnuggur
troops were slain in the pursuit, and the royal standard of Nizam
Shah fell into the hands of Assud Khan, besides forty elephants,
many pieces of cannon, and the tents and baggage of the enemy,
which became the reward of the victors. Ismael Adil Shah, after
this victory, returned in triumph to Beejapoor, where he made
rejoicings for a whole month, and conferred rewards and honours
on the officers who had most distinguished themselves. To Assud
Khan he gave five large and six small elephants, and on the same
occasion he increased the pay of every soldier in his army. To
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enable him to bear this expense, he appropriated all the lands
hitherto allotted for the support of the seraglio to his troops, and
gave up half the customs levied at the forts for the same object.
Being one day told that some officers were still unprovided for,
and on the minister saying, that the treasury could not maintain
so many troops or the present pay, he asked what number of dis-
tricts were set aside for the wvpport of his wardrobe and kitchen ?
and having ascertained they amounted to twenty-four, he comman-
ded half to be allotted to the pay of the troops; saying, that it was
better for him to suffer some inconvenience than that the soldiers
should have reason to complain.

In the year A.H. 935 (aD. 1528), Boorhan Nizam Shah,
accompanied by Ameer Bereed, again invaded the territories of
Ismael Adil Shah. They were, however, completely defeated,
within twenty coss of Beejapoor. by Assud Khan; on which occa-
sion, Khwaja Jehan of Purenda and several officers of distinction
were taken prisoners. Assud Khan pursued the fugitives as far
as Purenda, and took much baggage and twenty elephants, among
which was that which carried the ambarry® of Nizam Shah.
Ismael Adil Shah conferred all the clephants on Assud Khan,
except one named Alla Buksh (or the Gift of God), and honoured
his general with the title of Furzund (or Son) in the firmans
addressed to him. The King, by his advice, this year, gave his
sister Khoodeija in marriage to Alla-ood-Ceen [mad Shah, King
of Berar; and these two monarchs had a meeting in the town of
Oorsingy to celebrate the nuptials; after which, they took leave of
each other with mutual presents and professions of regard.

This year, also, Bahadur Shah of Guzerat having invaded the
territories of Boorhan Nizam Shah, Ismael Adil Shah sent ten
lacks of hoons* and six thousand hotse to assist his ally. These
troops, after the retreat of Bahadur Shah, returning to Beejapoor,
informed their sovereign that Ameer Bereed had endeavoured to
currupt their fidelity, and to prevail on them to join him in an
attack on Becjapoor, promising to reward them with a share of
territory. Ismael Adil Shah, justly incensed at this treachery, re-
solved 10 punish Ameer Bereed; and in the year A H. 936 (A.D.

25. An ambarry is the seat or throne on which the chief sits upon
the elephant: it is covered with a canopy supported on pillars at the
corners. This canopy distinguishes the ambarry from the howda.

26. 400,000. sterling
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1529), sent intelligent ambassadors to Boorhan Nizam Shah,
complaining that Ameer Bereed had frequently conspired against
his family and had more than once induced his enemies to invade
his dominions; that he (Ismael Adil Shah) had hitherto refrained
from attacking him, but thai now he had resolved to do so, both
from religious and political motives; for, he observed, it was con-
trary to wisdom to treat the wolf with gentleness, or the snake
with kindness. He.concluded by stating, that if Boorhan Niza.a
Shah would remain neutral on the occasion, he intended shortly
to take ample vengeance on the ancient enemy of his house.
Boorhan Nizam Shah, who lay under obligations to the King for
his late succours, acquiesced in his wishes. The Ambassadors re-
turned with this answer; and Ismael Adil Shah immediately pre-
pared for his intended expedition.

The King having now formed an army of ten thousand
cavalry, consisting of Arabians, Persians, Toorks, Oozbuks, Koords,
and other foreigners, whom his liberality had bound to his interest,
marched towards Ahmudabad Bidur. On his approach, Ameer
Bereed. who was old and infirm, by the advice of Heemajy. a
bramin, his minister, committed the charge of the fort of Bidur to
- his eldest son Ally Bereed, and himself withdrew to the fortress
of Oodgeuer. _

Ismael Adil Shah, on arriving before Ahmudabad Bidur,
blockadad the city on all sides; but the garrison made repeated
sallies. and being nearly equal in numbers to the besiegers, greatly
retarded their operations. At length the sons of Ameer Bereed.
with five thousand horse. came out of the city, resolved. as the
Beejapoor troops were composed only of bowmen, to charge them
upder cover of their shields, and cut them to pieces in close com-
bat with their swords. Ismael Adil Shah, who had foreseen such
an event, had provided three thousand cavalry, expert swordsmen,
whose horses, as well as themselves, were covered with iron
armour. This body was commanded by Syud Hoossein, an Arab
chief of distinction. A very severe action in consequence easued,
on the plain before the gate of Bahmunypoora, and foreigners and
Deccanies both displayed great courage. Ismael Adil Shah, in
spite of the remonstrances of Assud Khan, engaged in the action,
and killed with his own hand two of the sons of Ameer Bereed,
who attacked him successively on that day. Both armics were
loud in the praises of the King’s valour, and his own officers,



ISMAEL ADIL SHAH 35

.alighting from their horses, kissed his stirrup. The engagement
was scarsely ended, when four divisions of troops were seen on
the right, which appeared to consist of about four thousand.
Assud Khan instantly sent off one of his attendants, named Good-
urz, with forty horsemen to learn who they were. They proved
to be four thousand cavalry detached by Sooltan Koolly Kootb
Shah of Golconda to the aid of Ameer Bereed; accordingly Ismael
Adil Shah, having ordered Assud Khan to oppose them, prepared
to renew his attack on the troops of Ally Bereed himself. At this
moment Syud Hoossein Arab earnestly entreated to be entrusted
with that duty, and begged the King not to expose his person un-
necessarily. Moved by his remonstrances, the King promised to
1cmain merclv as a witness of the battle, at the same time present-
ing to Syud Hoossein his own sword, still reeking with the blood
-of his enemies. The Beejapoor generals were both successful; and
the troops of the allies, after losing about five hundred men each,
flcd in disorder, leaving the field in possession of Ismael Adil Shah.
Assud Khan, in this battle, gained great credit; for after driving
off the four thousand Tulingas of Kootb Shah he came to the
assistance of Svud Hoossein. When the King dismounted, after
the victory, and was seated on an eminence overlooking the field
of battle, h= thanked all his officers,. particularly distinguishing
Assud Khan above the rest, by clasping him in his embrace. To
Syud Hoossein he gave the horse he himself rode during the battle.
On the part of the enemy, two of the sons of Ameer Bereed, and
Roostoom Beg, commander of the Kootb Shahy auxiliaries, were
slain.

Ismael Adil Shah now laid closer siege to the city than before;
and Ameer Bereed, reduced to great distress, wrote to Alla-ood-
Dcen Imad Shah, earnestly requesting him to come and mediate
a peace. Imad Shah, therefore, without even going to Oodgeer,
to which place Ameer Bereed had retired, came and encamped
within a mile of the besieging army at Bidur. Ismacl Adil Shah
went to visit the King of Berar. attended by his principal officers.
On this occasion, after congratulating him on his late successes,
Imad Shah declared that he had marched merely for the purpose
of sharing in his victories, but that he now hoped to be able to
mediate terms between him and Ameer Bereed. The King replied,
that Ameer Bereed had done his family more injuries than could
be enumerated; that in this war many of his brave officers had
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fallen, and that he would listen to no terms short of absolute sub-
mission. Imad Shah, perceiving the determination of Ismael Adii
Shah, did not press him farther; and the two princess, after spen-
ding a week together in festivity, parted. Ameer Bereed, hearing
of this circumistance, now left Oodgeer, and came to the camp of
Imad Shah, again entreating him to effect a peace. But being
informed no other offer than the actual surrender of the city
would be listened to by Ismael Adil Shah, he retired in disgust to
his own camp. near that of Imad Shah, and to drown his cares
gave himself up to pleasure. The troops of Ameer Bereed were
much harassed, and became careless at night; so that even the
cutposts lay down to sleep, while many, following the example of
their leader, had recourse to wine.

Ismael Adil Shah, having heard of the arrival of Ameer
Bereed, ordered Assud Khan, with two thousand chosen horse, to
surprise his camp. Assud Khan warned the troops for the duty,
as if intended to relieve those at the trenches as usual; but when
he had got heyond the lines, he made known to them his designs,
and proceeded as silently as possible towards the teuts of the
enemy. Having arrived close to the outposts, and not hearing the
smallest noise, he ordered his own men to remain quiet, and sent
spies to learn the situation and state of the enemy. The scouts
soon returning, declared that they had advanced uninterruptedly
to the tents of Ameer Bereed, where the few men on guard were
all asleep; in confirmation of which assertion, they presented some
turbans and sabres they had stolen from them. Assud Khan,
ordering his troops to remain iti profound silence where they were
till his return, proceeded with twenty-five horsemen and a few foot
through the enemy’s camp to the tents of Ameer Bereed. Here
he saw the guards lying on all sides, apparently dead-drunk, amid
the broken vessels of liquor. Assud Khan, unwilling to murder
them in so helpless a condition, ordered some of his infantry to
stand over them with drawn sabres, in case any should awake,
and attempt giving the alarm. He now dismounted, and entering
the King’s tent with a few of his soldiers, resolved to-carry off
Ameer Bereed Shah alive; but in case of any attempt at rescue,
to put him to death, and carry his head to his master. Ameer
Bereed Shah lay senseless on his couch, around which the dancers
and singers male and female, were indiscriminately jumbled toge-
ther, amid the filth of broken vessels and spilt liquors. The bed.



ISMAEL ADIL SHAH 37

of Ameer Bereed, that old, experienced, and crafty prince, was now
lifted up by Assud Khan's soldiers. They were moving out of the
tents quietly with their prize, when one of the lamp-men, (called
“deoties’’ in the Deccan, and who watch by the chief at night,)
awaking, was in the act of crying out, but Assud Khan clapped
his hands on the watchman’s mouth, and his people seizing him
strangled him on the spot, after which the party reached the troops
waiting on the skirts of the camp without molestation. Assud
Khan, now addressing his soldiers, said, that the main object ot
their enterprise being accomplished, it was better to desist from a
night-attack on the camp, as in the darkness the Hindoos could
not be distinguished from the Mussulmans, and, consequently,
many of the faithful must be slain. He accordingly moved to-
wards the rcyal camp, carrying his prisoner on his bed without
attempting to awaken him. Ameer Bereed Shah, however, finding
his bed in motion, awoke. and fancying evil spirits or genii carried
him through the air, began to cry out in terror, and called on God
to protect h'm from enchantment. Assud Khan now explained to
him his situation, and reproached him with imprudence; observing,
that for a reverend old man, experienced as he was in the arts of
government, to suffer himself to be taken in a state of intoxication
in the neighbourhood of his enemy was as degrading to his charac-
ter as to his sense. Ameer Bereed Shah, covered with shame and
vexation, returned no answer; but Assud Khan consoled him by
assuring him of his influence with the King to procure kind
treatment.

On arriving at the Beejapoor camp, Assud Khan without
delay presented his important prize to his master, who was over-
joyed at the success of the enterprise. Sending for Ameer Bereed
Shah, he asked how a person possessed of such art and cunning
as he had displayed throughout a long life could allow himself to
be so ensnared ? The captive monarch replied, Fate and Provi-
dence had thus decreed it. The King then delivered him over to
Assud Khan, and ordered him to bring his prisoner to court on
the next day

Ismael Adil Shah, on the following morning, being seated on
his throne, Ameer Bereed was placed opposite to him, with his
head bare, and his hands tied behind his back, exposed to a hot
sun. When he had stood for two hours in this situation, the King
gave orders for his being put to death, and an executioner ad-
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vanced to do his duty with a drawn scimitar. Ameer Bereed
Shah, perceiving his helpless condition, condescended to beg his
life; saying that undoubtedly he had been guilty of many insults
to the King and his late father of blessed memory, and was cons-
cious of meriting revenge at his hands; but if the King woukl
forget these circumstances, and sufier him to live and repent, pc
would surrender to him the city of Ahmudabad, with the fortress.
of Bidur, whose battlements the ladders: of an enemy had never
yet scaled,--and he promised to deliver into his hands the treasuc-
ers of the Bahmuny roval family.

The King having consented to spare his life on these terms,
Ameer Bereed despatched a message to one of his sons, acquaiit-
ing them with his situation, and the agreement he had made. His
son returned for answer, that as he was very old, and the period
of his existence drawing to a close, it were folly to surrender such
a fortress for a few remaining days of life. The object of this
message, however, was only to gain time, in hopes of assistance
from the allies; for the sons sent secret instructions by a confiden-
tial person to agrec to the terms if their father should be in real
danger. Amecr Bereed Shah affected to complain of the cruelty
of his sons; but Ismael Adil Shah, who suspected the scheme,
gave orders for him to be thrown before a vicious elephant, obser-
ving that he would trust to his army for gaining the city by assault.
Ameer Bereed again had recourse to entreaty, and begged that he
might be carried before a certain tower of the fort, in order that
his sons might behold his condition, and be thus moved to save
his life. This being done the sons seeing no other means but
submission to save the life of their parent, offered to resign the
city and fortress, on condition that they and their own families
should be allowed to depart with the clothes on their persons
without search. This being agreed on, they loaded themselves
and their women with as many of the valuable ornaments and
robes of the royal family of Bahmuny as they were able to conceal,
and retired. with their followers, unmolested, to the fortress of
Oodgeer.

Assud Khan with some chosen troops, eatered the city to
prevent plunder, and commenced to take a list of the treasurers
and eifects belonging to the vanquished. Ismael Adil Shah having
fixed on a lucky moment proceeded on foot attended by all his
ofticers and nobles from the gate of the city to the palace, and
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l:aving entered the grand hall of audience, ascended the throne of
the Bahmuny kings. Oa this occasion he offered up thanks to
God for his success, and deputed his son, the Prince Mulloo Khan,
accompanied by Assud Khan and other chiefs, to invite Alla-ood-
Deen Imad Shah to his court. Ismael Adil Shab met him at the
steps of the palace, and the two kings sat down together on the
same throne.

The trcasurers were now laid before the Kings. They con-
sisted of ten lacks of hoons*” in money, several valuable jewels, a
large quantity of gold anl silver platc, magnificent china, and rich
dresses. Ismael Adil Shah desired Alla-ood-Deen Imad Shah to
take whatever he chose; and in order to avoid the imputation of
having made war for the sake of the riches of the Bahmuny family,
he divided the treasures into presents, which he sent partly to thz
surrounding states, and .partly distributed among his own army,
not reserving for himself a single coin. He intrusted fifty thousand
hoons to Syud Ally Akheel, a person celebrated for his learning
and integrity, to be distributed in charity to the poor inhabitants
of Nujuf, Xurbela, and Mushed; and gave fifty thousand to Syud
Ahmud Hirvy, to be bestowed on learned men in the Beejapoor
dominions. He then desired the poet Mowlana Syeed of Koom
to go to the treasury and take as much gold as he could lift; but
the poet, who was infirm from sickness, observing, that when he
first came to his court he was as strong again as at present, the
King, laughing, desited him to take as much as he could carry
away at two attempts. The poet, however, still desired to wait
till he should recover from his indisposition before he made the
effort : on which the King repeated the following verse :

“There is danger in delay, and it injures the petitioner.”

The poet contrived to carry off on two occasions as many bags
as contained twenty-five thousand hoons; and the King, on being
told the amount by his treasurer, replied, “The Mowlana spoke
truth in complaining of his weakness.” He then declared that he
would not rise till he had disposed of all the plunder, and accord-
ingly commanded Assud Khan to make a division among the
troops; which was effected in such a just manner that every person
was content with his share.

Imad Shah now again interceded for Ameer Bereed. Ismael

27. 400.000/.



40 ISMAEL ADIL SHAH

Adil Shah at length consented to enrol him among the number ot
his officers on Assud Khan’s becoming security for his fidelity.
Kulliany, Oodgeer, and some other districts, together with the
revenye derived from the city lands, were allotted for his support,
on condition of his attending the King’s army with three thousand
horse. . A week after this event, the King marched his army to the
south, attended by Alla-ood-Deen Imad Shah and Ameer Bereed
with their forces. The affairs of the kingdom of Beejanuggur had
been lately thrown into confusion, owing to the death of Hemraj,
to whom his son Ramraj had succeeded. Against this prince re-
bellions were excited by several Rays, so that the Mahomedans
met with no interruption to their progress. Rachore and Mood-
kul both surrendered by capitulation, after a seige of three months.
after having been in possession of the infidels for seventeen vears.

Ismael Adil Shah, who had vowed to refrain from wine till
the reduction of these fortresses, was now induced to make a splen-
did festival on which occasion he drank wine and gave full scope
tc his inclinations. Alla-ood-Deen Imad Shah and Ameer Bereed
partook of the banquet, and Assud Khan was also admitted to sit
with them; he even drank out of the same goblet with his sove-
1cign, who filled it with his own hand, and received another goblet
in return from him. At the request of Assud Khan, too, fifteen
hundred captives were released, and received presents of scarlet
caps and vests. Many of these prisoners chose to remain in the
service of Assud Khan, which the King permitted. During this
festival, the King promised on his return to Beejapoor to restore
to Ameer Bereed the government of Ahmudabad Bidur. These
rejoicings continued for a whole month; in commemoration of
which, Moolla Ibrahim Isferahy wrote a poem consisting of a
thousand verses descriptive of them. At this period intelligence
was received that Bahadur Shah of Guzerat was again preparing
to invade the Deccan; on which, Ismael Adil Shah having dis-
missed Alla-ood-Decn Imad Shah to his capital returned to Beeja-
poor, when he agreed to restore the city of Ahmudabad Bidur to
Ameer Bereed in six months, provided the latter should, within
that period, deliver the forts of Kulliany and Kand’har into the
King's hands; for which purpose he was permitted to quit Beeja-
poor. It is related, that on the latc expedition the King being
one day entertained by Alla-ood-Deen Imad Shah, received from
him several trays of valuable jewels, of which he pressed his accep-
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tance. The King, a few days afterwards, having invited Alla-ood-
Deen Imad Shah to a banquet, drew up twelve thousand of his
foreign cavalry before him; observing, that these were the onlv
jewels he had collected during his reign, and told him he might
select from among them a number for his own use. Alla-god-
Deen Imad Shah applauded his wisdom, and observed, with a
sigh, that had he taken the same measures, he should not have lost
the fortress of Mahoor.

Ameer Bereed neglecting to send the keys of the fortresses of
Kulliany and Kand'har, Ismael Adil Shah resolved, in the year
A.H. 938 (AD. 1531), to reduce them by force, and sent his tents
with one of his sons out of Beejapoor to prepare for his march.
Ameer Bereed, meanwhile, applied to Boorhan Nizam Shah for
aid, who sent ambassadors to Beejapoor, to request Ismael to
forego his designs against Ameer Bereed. Ismael Adil Shah ob-
served, in reply, that he had not interfered in the attack of
Boorhan Nizam Shah on Mahoor, and that, moreover, to
oblige him, he had even refrained from endeavouring to recover
Goa from the Portuguese. He went on to remark, that as the
cool season had commenced, and he did not choose to remain at
home, he proposed making a tour of his dominions, and intended
tc visit Sholapoor and Nuldroog; but that he hoped Boorhan
Nizam Shah would warn the officers of his frontier not to oe
alarmed nor misconceive the object of his march. Boorhan Nizam
Shah, being now under no appreheasions in the direction of Guze-
rat and Berar, replied by acquainting Ismael Adil Shah, that he
would do well not to refuse the request he had made, but be con-
tent to remain at home as better suited to his own interest.

Ismael Adil Shah having already marched from Beejapoor,
received this communication at Bahmunhully while at evening
prayers; and was so indignant that he moved with only four hun-
died horse and forty foot, and reached the river flowing under
Nuldroog before evening prayer the next day. He then dismissed
the ambassadors of Nizam Shah, telling them, he bad done all that
was incumbent on him to avoid a war, but that he should now
wait for his royal brother to come, as he had repeatedly done be-
fore, and amuse himself with a view of the tempestuous occan of
war. .
Boorhan Nizam Shah did not refuse the challenge, but, attend-
ed by Ameer Bereed proceeded with twenty-five thousand horse
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and a considerable train of artillery to the frontiers of Beejapoor.
Ismael Adil Shah left the organisation of the troops to Assud
Khan, who was thus arranged them :—All the young men, sons of
foreigners and Rajpoots, were formed into one body, composing a
light division. under command of Sunjur Khan, son of Mirza
Jehangeer Koomy, while their fathers, who were mostly old, re-
mained in the line; observing that this was a day for the young
soldiers to display their courage. Assud Khan assumed the com-
mand of the right wing, leaving the left to Moostufa Agha, Sikun-
dur Agha, and Khoosh Geldy Agha, Toorky chiefs of distinction.
The centre was commanded by the King in person, who joined
as soon as the line was formed. On observing that the colour of
the canopy, the royal standard, and flags of the enemy, which were
formerly white, were changed to green, the King asked the cause
of this alteration. He was told these were the insignia conferred
on Boorhan Nizam Shah by Bahadur Shah of Guzerat. While he
was yet speaking, the light division became engaged; and Ismael
Adil Shah instantly advanced with his whole line, by which the
action became general, and was so well maintained on both sides
that victory was long doubtful. At length Khoorsheed Khan, com-
mander of the Nizam Shahy army, being killed, his troops fled in
disorder. Boorhan Nizam Shah was shortly after surrounded by
the Beejapoor Mogul horse, and in danger of being taken prisoner,
when his body guard, by a desperate effort, liberated their sove-
reign and escorting him safely from the field, he fled with precipi-
tation to Ahmudnuggur, without waiting to collect his scattered
army. Much plunder tell into the hands of the victors; and the
superiority of Ismael Adil Shah became established throughout the
Deccan. The battlc was called the Victory of the Foreign Boys,
by whose exertions it was principally won. This corps now rose
daily in the King’s esteem, and many of them were raised to the
rank of nobility, in reward for their serivces during the lifetime
of their fathers. This was the last contest between Ismael Adil
Shah and Boorhan Nizam Shah. An alliance was subsequently
formed between them, when they had an interview on their fron-
tiers, in which it was agreed that the former should be at liberty
to reduce the comnry of Kootb Shah, and the latter be permitied
to add Berar to his possessions without molestation.

In consequence of this arrangement (A.H. 940, A.D. 1533),
Ismael Adil Shah becoming reconciled to Ameer Bereed, induced
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him to join in the attack on Tulingana; and they accordingly pro-
ceeded and laid seige to Kowilconda, one of the principal fortresses
on the frontiers of that kingdom. This fort had very nearly been
reduced, when Ismael Adil Shah was attacked by a violent fever
which obliged him to keep his bed. Finding his disorder increase,
he sent for Assud Khan Lary and Ameer Bereed, who were both
absent from the camp, laying waste the enemy’s country. On
their arrival he expressed his wish that they should continue the
siege, while he retiied to Koolburga for change of air, till his re-
covery should enable him to rejoin his army. It was accordingly
fixed that the King should begin his journey on the next morning
in a palky; but before aaylight, a severe relapse of fever coming
on he was united with the elect on Wednesday the 16th of Suffur,
A.H. 941 (Sept. 6, AD. 1534), after a glorious reign of twenty-five
years.

Assud Khan Laving embalmed the royal corpse, placed it in
a close litter, and sent it privately to Gogy. He concealed the
King’s death for two days; at the end of which time he communi-
cated the fatal intclligence to Ameer Bereed and all the nobility,
whom he advised to keep the event secret, in order to avoid dis-
putes between the two young princes in an enemy’s country. It
was proposcd, therefore, to raise the siege of Kowilconda, and to
defer making arrangements for the succession till their arrival at
Koolburga, where they nught seek inspiration to direct their choice
at the tomb of the blessed Syud Mahomed Geesoo-Duraz, who lies
buried near that city. All the chiefs approving of this counsel,
Assud Khaa, at the head of the army, accompanied by the princes,
began their march from Kowilconda.

Syud Ahmud Hirvy relates that Ismael Adil Shah was just,
prudent, patient, and liberal; and from the abundance of his mag-
nanimity he gave rewards without too minutely inspecting the
condition cf his trcasury. He was extremely generous also, fre-
quently parconing state criminals, and was averse from listening
to slander. He never used passionate language. He possessed
great wit, to which he added a sound and acute judgment. He
was an adept in the arts of painting, varnishing, making arrows,
and embroidering saddle-cloths. In music and poetry he excelled
most of his age. He was fond of the company of learned men
and poets, numbers of whom were munificently supported at his
court. He was delighted with re-partee in conversion, and had
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a great fund of humour, which he often displayed in his intercourse
with his courtiers : no other king of the Deccan equalled him in
this respect. He was fonder of the Turkish and Persian manners,
music, and language, than the Deccany : he seldom made use of
the latter tongue. This partiality was owing to his being educated
under the tuition of his aunt, Dilshad Agha,*® who by desire of his
father kept him as much as possible from the company of Decca-
nies, so that he had little relish for that people. He was buried
at Gogy, near the tomb of his father, Yoosoof Adil Shah.

MULLOO ADIL SHAH

WHEN Ismael Adil Shah was about to take his departure from
this temporary mansion of care, he addressed Assud Khan, .saying,
that although he fearcd his eldest son, Mulloo Khban, had not
abilities to govern, yet paternal affection led him to wish he might
succeed according to his birthright. He appointed Assud Khan
protector of the kingdom, with full powers to place the Prince
Mulloo on the throne; conjuring him to remain steadfast in his
loyalty towards him; and concluded by saying, that he had fuil
reliance on the minister’s abilities, which he was sure would mak=
up for any deficiency or imprudence to which his son might be
prone.

The Prince Ibrahim, the King's youngest son, who had long
entertained ambitious views towards the throne, had gained over
many of the nobles to his interest; so that when their father’s
death could no longer he concealed from them, the brothers were
on the eve of coming to epen war, though in an enemy’s country,
und actually conducting the siege of Kowilconda. Sooltan Koolly
Kootb Shah of Golconda, obtaining information of the state of
affairs, conceived the opportunity so favourable that he directed
his troops to hover round the Adil Shahy camp, and stop its sup-
plies of provisions; and he even caused the ears and noses of the
prisoners to be cut off, and then released them in this mutilated
condition 10 return to their camp.?*® The officers of the army
having espoused opposite parties refused to lead -detachments

28. She was aunt to his foster-brother, and sister to his nurse.

29. Faria-e-Souza relates this fact with much exaggeration. He
states. also. that Sooltan Koolly had twelve Portuguese in his service at
the siege of Kowilconda.
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against the enemy, lest advantage should be taken by their rivals
of their absence; and the camp followers suffering from the attacks
of the Tulingas, aad unsupported by their own troops, refrained
from bringing in forage or grain, so that famine began to rage,
and discontent and consternation pervaded the army. Assud
Khan, who was respecied by all, finding the disorders daily in-
creasing, boldly resolved to put an end to them by the exercise
of his authority. In the first place, he ‘seized and put to death
those evil disposed persons who had excited the princes against
each other, and calling together all the nobles, he forbade them
to visit either of the princes. He directed them, for the present,
to attend him, as usual, daily at the audience-tents, in order that
thev might conduct public affairs till the time should arrive for
seating one or other of the princes on the throne. Both parties
submitted to these mecasures; and the whole army approved of
the conduct of Assud Khan, and promised to fulfil his wishes.
Having assumed the title of Protector, he detached a force to dis-
lodge the Tulingas from the vicinity of the camp, and placed
strong guards of his own dependents over the princes: informing
them, that the astrologers had declared ten days must elapse be-
fore the favourable moment for accession to the throne; and as it
was his opinion, that remaining much longer in an enemy’s coun-
try would be imprudent, he advised the immediate march of the
army to Kcolburga, where they might invoke the blessed spirit of
Syud Mahomed Geesoo-Duraz to direct them in the succession.

The princes acceding to this proposal raised the siege of
Kowilconda, and the army moved to Koolburga, where Assud
Khan consulted with the principal ladies of the haram of his late
sovereign and the nobility on the choice of a king. Most of them
being of opinion that the King’s last will should be implicitly acted
on, he acquizsced; and confining the Prince Ibrahim, he placed
Mulloo Adil Shah on the throne, who was immediately acknow-
ledged by the nobility and army. Assud Khan, on his return to
Beejapoor, disgusted with the conduct of the new king, delivered
over the Prince Ibrahim to the care of his grandmother, Booboojee
Khanum; and resigning his office at court retired to his jageer of
Belgam with all his family, and Ismael Khan Deccany was raised
to the office of prime minister in his stead.*

30. The value and authenticity of the Mahomedan historian will
be fully appreciated by all those readers who take the trouble to consult
the confused Portuguesc accounts of these events.
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-Mullo Adil Shah, free from all restraint, abandoned himself
to excess as to women, wine, music, dancing, and low vices; in the
indulgence of which hc spent the whole of his time, leaving the
direction of his affairs to a few profligate favourites. His conduct
soon became offensive (o all the respectable part of his subjects,
whose children, if they pleased him, he seized by force, and drag-
ged to his palace for shameful purposes. At length, he insisted
on having onc of the children of Yoosoof Khan, a Turkish noble-
man of rank, sent to him. Yoosoof Khan refused compliance;
and the King became so incensed, that he sent some of his guards,
with orders, if Yoosoof Khan persisted in his refusal to bring his
head. Yoosoof Khan being prepared for resistance re-
pulsed the soldiers, and on the same day retired, in spite of great
opposition, to his own jageer of Kittoor, with all his family and
followers. Other persons of distinction soon followed his example,
left court, and repaired to their estates; but the King took no
notice of these indications of revolt, nor did he alter his
conduct.

The Dewager Booboojee Khanum, mother to the late king,
cqually offended at the King's shameful vices, resolved to depose
him, and wrote to0 Yoosoof Khan, that as Mulloo Adil Shah was
unworthy to reign, she wished he would assist her in dethroning
him. and in elevating his younger brother Ibrahim to the musnud.
Yoosoof Khan, despatching one of his friends to Belgam, informed
Assud Khan, that owing to the tyranny of Mulloo Adil Shah he
had fled from Beejapoor, and explained the overtures made to
him by the Dowager-queen. Assud Khan, in reply, observed, that
as the conduct of the King had disgusted all ranks, the safety and
honour of the state required that he should follow the council of
Boohoojee Khanum without delay: on which Yoosoof Khan sent
back the Queen’s messengers with assurances of implicit com-
pliance with her commands; and shortly after, on a day fixed on
between them, he arrived by forced marches at Beejapoor, and
suddenly entered the citadel with two hundred armed soldiers.
Noor Khan, the commander of the garrison, made little opposition.
Mulloo Adil Shah was seized, and blinded, by orders of his grand-
mother, together with his youngest brother, Alloo Khan, after an
inglorious reign of only six months. The Prince Ibrahim was
immediately after seated on the throne, amid the acclamations of
the nobles and the people.
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IBRAHIM AsiL SHAH, on his accession to the throne, having re-
jected the names of the¢ Imams from the Khootba, restored the
exercise of the Soony rites, and commanded that no person should
in future wear the scarlet cap of twelve points, which had been
adopted by all the troops of his father, in imitation of the Persians,
Instead of foreign troops he enlisted Deccanies in his service, and
permitted only four hundred foreigners to remain in his body-
guard. All the foreign cfficers, with the exception of Assud Khan
Lary, Khoosh Geldy Agha, Roomy Khan, and Shoojat Khan
Koord, were degraded. and Deccanies and Abyssinians were pro-
moted in their stead. All the foreign troops which were thus
dismissed entered into the service of differsnt princes. Ramraj,
the Hindoo Piince of Beejanuggur, entertained three thousand of
them; and in order to reconcile them to the act of making obeis-
ance to him, he caused a Koran to be placed before him when they
came to pay their respects; which enabled them to do so without
a breach of the ordinances of their religion.

Ibrahim Adil Shah, by this new regulation, created an army
of thirty thousand cavalry composed of men who rode the King’s
horses. The customs which prevailed in the reign of Ismael

31. Some observations on the constitution of the Indian governments
may be necessary in this place. Each Hindoo principality seems to have
been originally sutdivided among the great military officers of the state,
whose administration was regulated on some generally fixed principles,
but the details of which did not come under the direct cognisanze of the
head of the government. The Mahomedans, at a very early period, fell
into the same practice, and cach governor of a province was at the same
time a military leader and a civil ruler. One portion of the estimated
reverue was set aside for the civil cxpenses, a second portion for the
governor’s establishment, and the balance was made applicable for the
support of the troops. These were enlisted whelly on the responsibility
of the governor, and consisted chiefly of cavalry. This latter body was
composed of silehdars, literally, mail-clad, or men at arms, and bargeers:
the latter seem to have been like the squires of the feudal time in
Europe, retainers of the silehdars, or knights. The word bargeer, “one
who has charge of baggage,” is sometimes changed to bangcer, literally,
rocketeer, because in later times, they carried rockets on their horses,
and were employed in night-attacks to harass an enemy. The silehdars
were the owners of their own horses, and supplied them to their bargeers,
or retainers.

In order to insure the fidelity of the governors of provinces, each
governor maintained a portion of his followers at court, under the
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Adil Shah were wholly laid aside; and the public accounts, for-
merly kept in Persian, were now written in Hindvy, under the
management of bramins, who soon acquired great influence in his
government. Assud Khan was ordered to enlist Deccanies in his
service, and to adopt the Soony faith. Out of a thousand foreign-
ers, he discharged six hundred, but refused to change his persua-
sion, and boti in his camp and on his own jageer he publicly
exercised the Sheea ceremonies, an indulgence the King thought
it prudent to allow. The year after his accession, the King led
his army to Beejanuggur, on the requisition of the Ray; but before
the particulars of the expedition are recited, it is necessary to
relate the causes which led to it, and to give some account of the
revolutions which had taken place at that court.

The government of Beejanuggur had remained in one family
in uninterrupted succession for seven hundred years, when Shew
Ray dying, he was succeeded by his son a minor, who did not
long survive him, and feft the throne to a younger brother. Not
iong after, he died also, leaving an infant only three months old.
Timraj, one of the prircipal ministers of the family, celebrated
for his wisdom and experience, became sole regent, and was cheer-
fully obeyed by the nobility and vassals of the kingdom for forty
years. On the occasion of the young King’s attaining the age of
manhood, Timraj poisoned him; and put an infant of the family
on the throne, in order to have a pretence for retaining the regency
in his hands. Timraj at length dying, was succeeded in his office
by his son Ramraj, who having married a daughter of Shew Ray,
added by that alliance greatly to his influence and power. By
degrees raising his own family to the highest rank, and destroying
many of the ancient nobility, Ramraj aspired to reign in his own
name, and intended totally to extirpate the race of Shew Ray.
Many of the nobility, however, opposing this project, he complied
with their wishes, and placing an infant boy of the female line on
the throne, committed his person to the care of the child’s uncle,
one Bhoj Tirmul Ray, who being deemed almost an idiot, Ramraj
considered he had little to apprehend from him. Ramraj, in the
space of five or six years, cut off by treachery almost all those

command of his eldest son or nearest relative; and the king preserved
his own dignity and strength with the aid of a formidable body of
household troops (frequently foreigners), who were entirely dependent on
the crown.
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chiefs who formerly opposed his pretensions to the throne; and
leaving the city of Beejanuggur in charge of a slave, whom he had
raised to high rank, he marched with an army against some of the
Rays of the country of Malabar, who withheld their tribute. These
princes he soon reduced, and deprived them of their fortresses;
after which, having moved against a powerful zemindar to the
south of Beejanuggur, he was detained for six months without
making the smallest impression on him, though he had been en-
engaged in scveral general actions.

Ramraj having expended the treasures of his military chest
wrote to his deputy to send him a supply of money from Beeja-
nuggur, in order to enable him to continue the war; but the deputy,
on opening the vaults of the treasury, and perceiving the magni-
tude of its wealth, inctantly resolved on rebellion against his
patron, and set at liberty the young Ray, having first induced Bhoj
Tirmul Ray to embracc his interest. The deputy now assumed
the office of minister. and began to levy troops. Several tributary
Rays, who were offended with Ramraj’s administration, hastened
10 Beejanuggur to rally round their lawful ‘King, and in a short
time thirty thousand horse, and vast hosts of foot, were assembled
under his standard at the city. Bhoj Tirmul Ray, apprehending
that the slave, now the minister, might repent of his rebellion and
eventually betray them to Ramraj, put his benefactor to death,
and assumcd the management of affairs at Beejanuggur.

Ramraj. on hearing of this revolt, concluded a hasty peace
with his cnemy, and returned towards Beejanuggur; but being
deserted by scveral of his officers, who left him on the route to
join their Jawful sovereign, he thought it advisable at present to
desist from war, and to rest content with his extensive jageer. A
treaty was accordingly brought about between him and the young
Ray, by which Ramraj was suffered to remain in independent pos-
session of his country. Quiet being now restored, the nobility,
who had supported the revolution, left their sovereign under the
care of his uncle Bhoj Tirmul Ray, and returned to their several
districts. Not long afte rthis event, the uncle, becoming ambitious
of reigning, strangied his nephew, and seized the throne of Beeja-
nuggur, and being a member of the royal family the nobility pre-
ferred his authority to that of Ramraj; but in a short time, being
unwilling to endure his tyranny and oppression, they became dis-

Briggs 111/4,
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affected towards him, end invited Ramraj to return, and assume
the administration of aftairs.

Bhoj Tirmul Ray, obtaining intelligence of their designs, des-
patched ambassadors with a sum of six lacks of hoons,*? and
many valuable presents, to Ibrahim Adil Shah of Beejapoor.
soliciting him to march to his assistance, in return for which he
promised to acknowledge himself tributary, and to pay down a
sum of three lacks of hoons for every day’s march his army might
make. Ibrahim Adil Shah, tempted by the greatness of the offer,
and by the advice of Assud Khan, mover from his capital in the
year A.H. 942 (AD. 1535), and arrived at Beejanuggur without
opposition, when he was conducted into the city by Bhoj Tirmul
Ray, who seated him on the royal musnud, and made rejoicings
for scven days. Ramraj and the confederate nobles now sent
letters to the Ray expressing contrition for their rebellion, and
assuring him of their future firm allegiance. They represented in
strong colours the evil consequences of introducing the Mussul-
mans into their country; that their temples and the idols would
be defiled and destroyed, and that the children of all ranks of
people, as in the times of the Bahmuny kings, would be carried
away into captivity. Ramraj, moreover, swore never again to de-
part from his allegiance, if Bhoj Tirmul Ray would cause the
retreat of the King of Beejapoor to his own dominions. Bhoj
Tirmul Ray, thinking he had now no further use for his alies,
requested the return of the Mahomedan army, and paid down
fifty lacks of hoons,® the amount of the settled subsidy, besides
making presents to a vast amount to the King, among which were
twelve fine elephants and some beautiful horses.

Ibrahim Adil Shah had not yet recrossed the Krishna, when
Ramraj and the confederates, who had bribed many of the troops
in the city, broke their promises, and hastened towards Beeja-
nuggur, resolving to put the Ray to death, on pretence of reven-
ging the murder of his predecessor. Bhoj Tirmul Ray, finding he
was betrayed, shut himself up in the palace, and becoming mad
from despair, blinded all the royal elephants and horses, and cut
off their tails. that they might be of no use to his enemy. All the
diamonds, rubies, emeralds, and other precious stones and pearls,
which had been collected in the course of many ages, he crushed

32. 240,000/.
33. About 1,750,000/ sterling.
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to powder between heavy mill-stones, and scattered them on the
ground. He then fixed a sword-blade into a pillar of his apart-
ment, and ran his breast upon it with such force, that it pierced
through and came out at his back; thus putting an end to his
existence, just as the gates of the palace were opened to his
enemies. Ramraj now became Ray of Beejanuggur without a
rival.
Ibrahim Adil Shah, hearing ot this revolution on his arrival
at Rachore, despatched Assud Khan with the greatest part of his
army to reduce the important fortress of Adony, which was on
the point of surrendering, when Venkatadry, the younger brother
of Ramraj, marched from Beejanuggur with a great army to re-
lieve it. Assud Khan. upon his approach, raised the siege and
moved towards him. A sharp engagement ensued; and Assud
Khan, finding that he was likely to have the worst of the action
from the vast superiority of thq enemy, -retreated in good order,
and was followed to the distance of seven fursungs® by the victors,
when he pitched his camp. Venkatadry, in order to be ready to
harass the retreat again the next day, halted in full security at the
distance of six fursungs** from Assud Khan, who ardently wished
for such an event. Before daylight, on the next day, Assud Khan,
with four thousand chosen horse, surprised the camp of Venka-
tadry, whose self-confidence had thrown him wholly off his guard
against such a manceuvre. Assud Khan penetrated to his tents
before the alarm was given, and Venkatadry had scarcely time to
make his escape, leaving his treasures, family, and elephants, in
the hands of the victors. When day appeared, Venkatadry col-
lected his scattered troops, and drew them up as if to engage; but
seeing Assud Khan prepared to maintain his advantage, and ap-
prehensive of the consequences to his wife and children, he
declined a battle, and retiring some miles off, fixed his camp.
From thence he wrote an account of his disaster to Ramraj, and
requested reinforcements. Ramraj immediately sent supplies of
men and money, giving out his intention of carrying on the war, but
he privately informed his brother, that he had reason to imagine
Ibrahim Adil Shah had not been induced to besiege Adony of his
own accord, but that he suspected the zemindars of that quarter
had invited him to make war, and that many of the officers with

34. About twenty-one miles.
35. About ecighteen miles.
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Venkatadry were secretly in the enemy’s interest; therefore he
thought he would act prudently by making peace with the Mussul-
mans at present, and obtaining the release of his wife and family
from Assud Khan. In consequence of this advice, having pro-
cured the wediation and influence of Assud Khan, Venkatadry
made overtures to Ibrahim Adil Shah for peace; which being
granted, and the terms settled to the satisfaction of both states,
Ibrahim Adil Shah returned to Beejapoor, accorapanied by Assud
Khan and the rest of hix nobility and army.

In this expedition some malicious persons told the King that
Assud Khan had received a vast sum of money, besides jewels
and gold and silver plate, from Ramraj, in order to procure the
release of the prisoners, and for mediating the peace. Ibrahim
Adil Shah, instead of being displcased, or coveting the great sum
said to have been received, reproved the informers, and observed,
he returned God thanks that he had a servant to whom great kiogs
condescended to pay contributions, and who bore the yoke of
submission on their necks. He then, in the presence of the infor-
mers, called for Assud Khan, and honoured him with a suit of his
own robes, and conferred on him other distinguishing marks of
favour; which confounded his enemies, and for some time pre-
vented their further machinations against him.

The King, on his return to the capital, nominated Assud
Khan to the office of prime minister, as well as commander-in-
chief of his armies; which circumstance excited more and more
the envy of his enemies, who took every opportunity of hinting
that his influence was growing dangerous. Though these insinua-
tions for a long time were disregarded, yet some impression was
at length made on the royal mind, and the King was heard in
private to express his wish to humble the minister. Yoosoof
Toork, one of the King’s chamberlains, thinking this a fit instant
to alarm his master, observed, that Assud Khan, from a similarity
of religious tenets, maintained a secret correspondence with
Boorhan Nizam Shah, to whom he mediated resigning the fort
of Belgam, and entering his service. This story confirmed
the suspicion of Ibrahim Adil Shah, who now asked his confidant
what would be the surest method of securing his minister. Yoosoof
recommended that he should be invited to court from Belgam, on
pretence of his being required on the ceremony of the circumcision
of the young Prince Ally, when, if he came, he might be easily
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confined, or his authority curtailed. The King's water-cooler
happening to overhear this consultation, told it in confidence to
his own family, who revealed it to their friends; so that in a short
time the King’s displeasure against thé¢ minister became the topic
of conversation among all ranks, and Assud Khan was placed on
his guard. When the royal order was sent, commanding him to
court, he excused himself from attending, on pretence of illness :
attempts were then made to corrupt his servants to poison him,
but all in vain; these measures only serving to render him more
vigilant against treachery. At last it was resolved that Yoosoof
should have lands conferred on him in the vicinity of Belgam, and
retire to them with his dependents, to be at hand to seize any
favourable opportunity that might offer of surprising the minister.

Assud Khan, an experienced and cautious politician, was not
10 be easily deceived by these arts. One day he proceeded with
only a few attendants to visit a garden-house at some distance
from Belgam, leaving orders for four hundied horsemen to follow.
One of Yoosoof’s spies obtaining information of Assud Khan’s
movement hastened to inform his master that the minister had
gone out almost unattended, and might easily be surprised and
teken prisoner. Yoosoof accordingly advanced towards the gar-
den, which, to his astonishment, he found surrounded by troops.
Seeing, hiuwever, his own party superior in numbers, he resolved
on attempting to effect his object by force; but was repulsed by
Assud Khan, who returned triumphant to Belgam after taking
many prisoners.

Ibrahim Adil Shah denied that this attack was made with his
consent; and in order to corroborate this assertion, he commanded
"Yoosoof to appear at court, and placed him in confinement; at
the same time writing to Assud Khan that he was much offended
with Yoosoof’s conduct, and would punish him in any manner
the minister wished.. Assud Khan, who knew the real state of the
case, sent back a reply, respectfully saying that he himself was
the only guilty person, and would willingly have gone to court to
implore forgiveness; but that as the King had been pleased of his
own accord to overlook his conduct, he was at a loss for words
1o express his sense of the obligation. With this letter he sent
‘back all his prisoners, after having presented them with honorary
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d\:esses, and committed to their charge valuable offerings for the

The breach between the King and his minister becoming pub-
lic throughout the Deccan, Boorhan Nizam Shah and Ameer
Bereed availed themselves of it to circulate insidious reports, that
Assud Khan had promised to deliver up Belgam to them when-
ever they should approach; and accordingly, in the year A.H. 949
(AD. 1542), they invaded the territories of Ibrahim Adil Shah, and
wresting the five districts dependent on Sholapoor from his officers,
gave them up to the servants of Khwaja Jehan Deccany, after
which they moved in the direction of Belgam. Assud Khan,
though not originally privy to the invasion, deemed it prudeat, in
order to save his estates from plunder, to join them on their ap-
proach with six thousand horse. The allies, inspired with fresh
courage by this accession of power, spread desolation through the
country to the neightourhood of Beejapoor; and Ibrahim Adil
Shah, conceiving himself unable to oppose them in the field, re-
tired with his family to Koolburga.

Assud Khan, true to the interest of his sovereign, though.
abandoned by him, secretly despatched Ally Mahomed Budukshy,
~ one of his most faithful servants, to Elichpoor, the capital of Berar,
representing to Alla-ood-Deen Imad Shah,*® that from the strange
and inconstant vicissitudes of fortune an event had occurred,
which had involved him in a maze of embarrassment, entreating
Imad Shah to march to the aid of Ibrahim Adil Shah, and that he,
Assud Khan, would joia him as soon as he should reach the bor-
ders. Imad Shah, in compliance with this solicitation, moved
without delay towards Koolburga; and Boorhan Nizam Shah and
Ameer Bereed, then lying before the citadel of Beejapoor, raised
the siege, and after devastating the suburbs of the city, marched
for the purpose of preventing a junction of the Berar army with
Ibrahim Adil Shah. Assud Khan, according to agreement, now
quitted the allies, and with aif his followers joined Imad Shah, to
whom he represented, that the traitor Yoosoof having filled the
mind of his prince with suspicions of his loyalty, and Ibrahim
Adil Shah having listened implicitly to every idle report tending
to hig dishonour, the ministers of Boorhan Nizam Shah took ad-

36. Alla-00d-Deen Imad Shah espoused the daughter of Yoosoof
ﬁn&mmmny.mmwmdm
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vantage of the King’s displeasure towards him, and with a view
to promote their own advantage had openly declared that he,
Assud Khan, had offered to join their master if the King of
Abmudnuggur would invade the territory of Beejapoor. Ibrahim
Adil Shah believing this vile tale, became more incensed against
him, and not only removed him from his office, but attempted in
various ways to take his life. He stated that the enemy, on finding
their arts had succeeded, entered his estates to give colour to their
story, and finding himself unsupported by his sovereign, he was
(from regard to self-preservation) obliged to join the confederates
for a time; but that as Imad Shah had now come to his assistance,
he relied on him to remove from the King’s mind the effects pro-
duced by the accusation of his enemies; but if that could not be
effected, he declared himself willing to submit to any punishment
the King his master might think fit to inflict on him.

Jmad Shah, convinced of the integrity of Assud Khan, heartily
espoused his cause, and conducted him on the-same day to Ibra-
him Adil Shah, to whom he also soon made clear the error into
which he had been led. Ibrahim Adil Shah clasped Assud Khan
in his embrace, expressing contrition for his ill usage of him; and
in order to convince him of his sincerity, he not only imprisoned
Yoosoof and his agents, who had abused his confidence, but con-
ferred his estates on Ein-ool-Moolk Geelany, an officer of distinc-
tion whom Assud Khan had prevailed to quit the service of Ameer
Bereed. The reconciliation between the King and his minister
soon changed the state of affairs, and Ibrahim Adil Shah and Imad
Shah marched to give the allies battle, who retreated with expedi-
tion towards Dowlutabad. They were were hotly pursued by the
Beejapoor and Berar troops, who took ample revenge for the
depredations the enemy had committed in the Beejapoor territory.
An event occurred, however, which brought about a peace. Ameer
Bereed dying suddenly, Boorhan Nizam Shah was reduced to sue
for terms; and the venerable Shah Tahir was sent as his ambassa-
dor to make the overtures. In the treaty which ensued, it was
agreed that the Sholapoor five districts, which had been taken by
the allies, should be restored to Ibrahim Adil Shah, and Boorhan
Nizam Shah promised never again to lay claim to them. The
treaty being signed and exchanged, each of the sovereigns returned
to their respective capitals.
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In the following year A.H. 950 (A.D. 1543), Ibrahim Adil
Shah married the daughter of Alla-ocd-Deen Imad Shah,’” named
Rubeea Sooltana, and the nuptials were celebrated with great
splendour. Boorhan Nizam Shah, jealous of his military reputa-
tion, and vexed at the termination of the late war, declared he
should enjoy no rest till re recovered the five districts he had been
compelled to relinquish to Beejapoor. Accordingly, shortly after,
availing himself of some disagreement which occurred between
Ibrahim Adil Shah and Imad Shah, Boorhan Nizam Shah formed
secret alliances with Ramraj of Beejanuggur, and Jumsheed Kootb
Shah of Golconda, to wage war against the Beejapoor territories
on the south and east, while with his own army, and the troops of
Ally Bereed and Khwaja Jehan, he invaded them onr the north-
east. With this force he laid waste many districts, and on several
occasions defeated the Beejapoor troops sent to oppose his pro-
gress. Jumsheed Kootb Shah, entering the kingdom on the east,
seized the district pf Kakny, in which he built a strong fort, and
occupied the whole country to the walls of Koolburga, and, more-
over, laid siege to the fortress of Etgeer, near the city of Sagur;
while on the south Ramraj deputed his brother Venkatadry to re-
duce the fort of Rachore; so that the kingdom of Beejapoor,
attacked at once by three powerful armies in separate quarters,
seemed on the brink of destruction.

Ibrahim Adil Shah, at a loss how to act, and without confi-
dence in the opinions of his counsellors, sent for Assud Khan from
Belgam, and asked his advice. Assud Khan observed, that Boor-
han Nizam Shah was the true enemy, who had instigated the rest
to hostility, and that if he could be removed, it would be easy to
manage the others. He advised, therefore, that peace should be
concluded with him, by resigning the five districts dependent on
Sholapoor. He recommended, also, that separate overtures should
be made to Ramraj, and presents sent to propitiate his friendship;
observing, that small concessions would suffice to ensure his for-
bearance, as his own country, the Carnatic, was as yet by no
means in a settled state, many of the dependent Rays being still in
revolt. In conclusion, he stated, that when free from the attacks
of these two powers, Assud Khan would himself undertake the

37. This princess was the daughter of Khoodeija, Ibrahim Adil Shah’s
aunt. Vide Genealogy.
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chastisement of Kootb Shah, and promised in a short time to re-
cover all the places he had taken from Beejapoor.

Ibrahim Adil Shah acted according to this advice, and peace
being concluded with Boorhan Nizam Shah and Ramraj, Assud
Khan marched against Jumsheed Kootb Shah, and reduced the
newly-erected fort of Kakny after a siege of three months, and
levelled it with the ground. He then moved on towards Etgeer,
of which place the enemy raised the siege on his approach, and
not thinking it prudent to hazard an engagement, retreated to his
own dominions. Assud Khan followed him closely to the walls
of Golconda, when Jumsheed Kootb Shah halting gave him battle.
On this occasion, the King of Golconda was defeated in a severe
action, and received a sabre wound in his cheek from Assud Khan
as they fought hand to hand, which disfigured him for life. Thus
Assud Khan, after a glorious campaign, returned triumphant to
Beejapoor, where he was received by the King with honour, having
fulfilled to the utmost all that he had promised.

Some time after this campaign, Boorhan Nizam Shah was
instigated by Ramraj to march for the purpose of reducing Kool-
burga, and Ibrahim Adil Shah moved from Beejapoor to oppose
him. On his arrival near the town of Hoorchean, the Beejapoor
troops found Boorhan Nizam Shah strongly posted on the opposite
bank of the river Beema; and seeing it impossible to cross at that
spot, Ibrahim Adil Shah encamped on the right bank. Both armies
lay inactive during threc months of the rains, in sight of each
other, with the river between them. At length, Ibrahim Adil Shah,
tired of delay, found means to cross, and a general action ensued,
in which the army of Boorhan Nizam Shah was totally routed with
heavy loss, leaving on the field of buttle two hundred and fifty
clephants, one hurdred and seventy pieces of cannon, besides
ammunition, waggons, and all the royal insignia and camp-
equipage. Ibrahim Adil Shah, in this action, fought per§onally
with the utmost bravery, and slew three antagonists with his own
hand; but he had the generosity to attribute his victory solely to
the conduct of Assud Khan, on whom he conferred several districts
in addition to his jageer.

The King, elated by vain-glory, treated the ar_nbassadors of
Boorhan Nizam Shah who came to treat for peace in a contemp-
tuous manner; and from this time he behaved tyrannically even
towards his own subjects, putting to death some of his best officers,
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and severely punishing others on slight pretences, measures which
occasioned great disaffection in his government. Boorhan Nizam
Shah, taking advantage of these discontenis, again made war on
the King of Beejapoor, and defeated him in two engagements in
the space of six months, on which occasions he took many ele-
phants; and the Nizam Shahy troops committed such ravages as
seemed to threaten the very existence of Ibrahim Adil Shah’s
power. The Beejapoor king, fancying his losses were occasioned
by the disaffection of his officers and by the intrigues of the bra-
mins at the head of the civil affairs, caused forty Hindoos and
seventy Mussulmans of rank to be put to death in the short space
of two months, on vague suspicions. At last, numbers of the
nobility, reduced to despair, formed a conspiracy to dethrone the
King, and to raise his brother Abdoolla to the throne. Matters
had gone far, when one of the conspirators, in hope of obtaining
a considerable reward betrayed the plot to Ibrahim, who put him
to death with most of those against whom he had informed. His
brother Abdoolla, with much difficulty, made his escape to Goa,
where he was honourably received by the Portuguese, who afforded
him protection.*®* The King, enraged at his flight, punished ail
the bramins whose office it was to superintend the police with
tortures, in the great square of Becjapoor, where they expired in
excruciating agonies. At this time, also, renewing his suspicions
of the fidelity of Assud Khan, the King conducted himself so, that
the old minister was induced to withdraw for self-protection to his
estates at Belgam, from whence he sent a confidential friend with
an offering of nine elephants, nine horses, and many valuable
curiosities, with the following letter to the King :—

“Why, ah! why, art thou thus estranged from me? What
have I done, what hast thou heard, what hast thou seen in me ?

“If I have committed a crime, let my head fall beneath the
stroke of the sabre; but it is neither generous nor just to be
incensed without cause.

38. The Portuguese historian, Faria-e-Souza, makes no mention of
Abdoolla Khan; but states, that Assud Khan recommended the Portu-
guese to occupy part of the Beejapoor territory near Goa, and that he
was afterwards the first to lead an army against them. The Portuguese
account is confused, unsatisfactory. and altogether improbable. Faria-
e-Souza, though in India at the time, appears to have been profoundly
ignorant of the internal state of the country; and his narrative is certainly
full of extravagant exaggeration. . :
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“I know not the reason of this unkindness, nor what can have
ocoasioned such coldness.

“Whatever crimes interested persons have attributed to my
charge, I may bave committed an hundred times; but I know not
their accusations; and, like the wolf accused of destroying Yoosoof,
I am innocent, and condemned unseen or unheard. The language
they attribute to me has never passed my lips, nor have evil designs
beea conceived in my mind.

“The reason of my delay in this fortress, and of my absence
from the court, is to avoid the designs of my enemies, who daily
misrepresent the purity of my intentions, and .the sincerity of my
attachment. They have already tainted my character with the stain
of disaffection, and have made the peaceful recess of the King'’s
Reart a cave of spleen, nay, of grief, and a recess of burning fire.
By accusing me of treachery, they diminish the glow of cheerful-
ness on the part of the King. They pollute, with the alloy of
suspicion, the pure gold of my loyalty, and dissolve thine heart in
the tormenting crucible of jealousy.

“If, however, the kindness of the King of kings should, in
compassion for my situation, cause .mine enemies to be put to
shame, and command my prescace, I will, when the rains are at
an end, proceed to throw myself at the foot of the throne : in one
month will I hasten, with joyful presents and offerings, to the
royal court.”

Ibrahim Adil Shah, moved by this letter, treated the family
of Assud Khan, then at Beejapoor, with' many marks of favour,
and was about to permit them to join him at Belgam, when the
rebellion of the Prince Abdoolla suddenly breaking out, his mis-
trust of the minister was renewed, and his favourable disposition
towards him removed.

The Prince Abdoolla, having effected his escape to Goa from
the harsh treatment of his brother, was induced, by the advice of
many of the nobility of Beejapoor who attended him, to enter into
a correspondence with Boorhan Nizam Shah of Ahmudnuggur.
and Jumsheed Kootb Shah of Golconda, in hopes of obtaining
their assistance. These princes, secing the distracted state of
affairs at Becjapoor, and fully aware of the disgust of Assud
Khan, promised their aid to place Abdoolla on the throne, and
wrote to the Portuguese of Goa, that, owing to the cruelty and
tyranny of Tbrahim Adil Shah, they foresaw that such troubles
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would soon break out in his government as he could by no means
suppress; and it was, therefore, their wish, that the Prince
Abdoolla might be sent to them, as they intended seating him on
his brother’s throne. The Portuguese agreed to support this pro-
ject; but observed, they could only hope to succeed by the cordial
co-operation of Assud Khan.

Boorhan Nizam Shah, on receipt of this answer, despatched
one of his principal bramins to Assud Khan to prevail on him
to join in the plan : but that faithful minister, starting with horror
at the idea of disloyalty, told the bramin indignantly, that but for
the laws of civilised nations, which respect the persons of ambas-
sadors, he would put him to death; commanding him, as he re-
garded his safety, to depart instantly from the reach of his
authority, lest indignation should get the better of his reason, and
induce him to forget what was due to his character. The Bramin
returned with this message to Boorhan Nizam Shah; but the
Portuguese, perceiving that all the powers of the Deccan, excepting
Assud Khan, were united in support of the Prince Abdoolla, they
marched with him from Goa, and he openly proclaimed himself
King. Most of the nobility at the capital were about to desert
Ibrahim Adil Shah, and go over to Abdoolla, when an event
occurred which changed the face of affairs. Assud Khan was taken
dangerously ill; and Boorhan Nizam Shah, supposing he might
die, cast his eye on the fort of Belgam; and instead of marching
direct to Beejapoor with Abdoolla, which would have insured the
accession of that prince to the throne, he halted at Mirch, to pro-
secute his own designs; and deputing the same bramin, who had
formerly gone to Belgam, with a vasf sum of money, he was
directed to employ it in corrupting the soldiers of the garrison to
deliver the fort into his hands, in case of Assud Khan'’s death.
The bramin bad nearly succeeded in his commission when the plot
being discovered by Assud Khan, he slew the spy, together with
seventy of the soldiers whom he had already bribed. The nobles
of Beejapoor, on hearing of this event, became fully convinced
that the old minister took no share in the pretensions of the Prince
Abdoolla, and accordingly remained firm in their allegiance to
Torahim Adil Shah, while the adherents of the Prince began to fall
off daily.**-

39. Ferishta, who wrote this account at Beejapoor, within half a
«century of the time, could hardly be misinformed; and yet the Portuguese
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The disorder of Assud Khan continuing, and old age having
rendered him too weak to contend against it, he prepared to meet
death, and entreated Ibrahim Adil Shah to honour him with a
farewell visit in the following verses : —

*“Haste, like the morning breeze, to the bower of friendship;
come, like the graceful cypress, to the garden.”

Ibrahim thinking it advisable to comply with his request,
marched in the month of Mohurrum, A.H. 956 (A.D. 1549), towards
Belgam. After passing Hookery he received accounts of the
minister’s death; from whence the King pushed on, and arrived
on the same night at Belgam, where he administered consolation
to his mourning family and attendants, giving them assurances of
his favour; but he attached, in the meanwhile, all Assud Khan's
estates and treasures. In this state of affairs, the Portuguese
marched back to Goa, accompanied by the Prince Abdoolla, while
the other confederates also retreated to their own dominions.

Assud Khan was remarkable for his judgment and talents;
and his administration of the government during the reign of
Ismael Adil Shah has justly rendered his name celebrated in his-
tory. For nearly forty years he was the patron and protector of
all the noble and distinguished men of the Deccan. He lived
universally respected and esteemed, and maintained a splendour
and magnificence suited to his high station. The sovereigns of
Beejanuggur, and others, acknowledged his great abilities and in-
fluence, by frequently honouring him with letters, and propitiating
him with valuable presents. His household servants, Georgians,
Circassians, Hindoos, and Abyssinians, amounted to two hundred
and fifty. He had sixty large elephants, and one hundred and
fifty of a smaller size. In his stables werc four hundred Arabian
horses, exclusive of those of mixed breed, foaled in India. During
his administration he had amassed great wealth. In his kitchen
were every day expended one hundred maunds* of rice, Deccan
weight, fifty sheep, and one hundred fowls; from which some
notion may be formed of the expenditure of other articles. He
first introduced the fashion of wearing the waistband of gold cloth,
and the dagger, which have been ever since assumed by persons of

distinctly state that Assud Khan was the prime mover of the whf)lc
insurrection in favour of Abdoolla, whom they call Meale, confounding
him with Mulloo Khan.

40. 2700 lbs.



62 . IBRAHIM ADIL SHAH 1.

rank in this country. He also attempted to ride elephants with
bridles, instead of managing them with the kujjuk, or goad; but as
those animals have frequently sudden starts of vice, this mode of
guiding them was not found to answer. Ibrahim Adil Shah,
agreeably to his last will, gave the daughter of Assud Khan
(Mahtab Beeby) in marriage to Ally Bereed Shah, with whom he
sought an alliance.

Boorhan Nizam Shah, soon after the death of Assud Khan,
deputed ambassadors to Ramraj with presents, and professions of
regard were inter-changed between the Princes. On learning this
circumstance, Ibrahim Adil Shah treated the ambassadors of the
latter, who were with him at Beejapoor, with such marked neglect
that they became alarmed, and retired abruptly, without taking
leave, to Beejanuggur, where they communicated to Ramraj, that
Ibrahim Adil Shah, out of resentment of his alliance with Boarhan
Nizam Shah (had they not made their escape), would probably
have put them to death. Ramraj was much incensed; and in order
to involve Ibrahim Adil Shah in war with the King of Ahmud-
nuggur, he wrote to that prince, recommending him to attack
Kulliany, belonging to Ally Bereed, the ally of Ibrahim Adil Shah.

Boorhan Nizam Shah, accordingly moved from Ahmudnuggur
with an army, and surrounding Kulliany, effectually blockaded it.
Ibrahim Adil Shah, at the request of Ally Bereed, marched to
relieve it; and encamping within sight of the enemy, threw up an
entrenchment around his army, not choosing to risk a battle on
the plain. Boorhan Nizam Shah, unwilling to raise the siege, also
fortified his camp. In this state of affairs, Ibrahim Adil Shah
ordered his Bergy*' officers, who were expert light troops, to
occupy the roads, and prevent supplies of grain and forage reach-
ing the enemy. These orders were so implicitly obeyed, that a
famine soon prevailed in the camp of Bocrhan Nizam Shah, so
that in the month of Ramzan,*? the King and his army, true be-
lievers, and Hindoos, all fasted alike, from absolute necessity.
Boorhan Nizam Shah, in this distress, consulted his generals; some
of whom proposed to raise the siege, and retreat to Ahmudnuggur;
while others recommended him to make peace with Tbrahim Adil
Shah. Shah Jafur and Kasim Beg (two foreign chiefs) dissented:

41. Marratta cavalry.
42. This is the fast of the Mahomedans, when they are permitted
to eat only between sunset and sunrise during a whole month.
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from both these opinions, and strongly advised offering battle to
the enemy; a resolution which Boorhan Nizam Shah determined
to adopt. Accordingly Seif-ood-Deen Ein-ool-Moolk, with other
chiefs, at daylight on the morning of the dissolution of the fast,
surprised the camp of Ibrahim Adil Shah, whose troops were off
their guard, and employed in preparing for the festival. The
King, who was then in the warm bath, had scarcely time to make
his escape; and his troops fled in such confusion, that all the teats,
baggage, and artillery, were left in possession of the victors.
Boorhan Nizam Shah, elated by his success, directed an assault to
be made on the fort of Kulliany on the same day; and the garri-
son, intimidated by the defeat of their ally, laid down their arms,
and surrendered the place without opposition.

Ibrahim Adil Shah was by no means disheartened by this
affair; and in order to save his own territory from devastation he
invaded that of the enemy. He came suddenly before Purenda,
and finding the gates open, rushed with a body of troops into the
fortress, which submitted, and was given over in charge to one of
his Deccany officers. From thence he proceeded to lay waste the
neighbouring districts; and after having levied considerable contri-
butions, he retreated, on the approach of Boorhan Nizam Shah,
towards Beejapoor. Boorhan Nizam Shah proceeded to recover
Purenda. Before he arrived within many miles, the dastardly
governor, being alarmed, fled by night, without communicating
his design to his followers, and on the next morning they imitated
the example of their chief. The third day after this the evacuated
fortress was quietly taken possession of by its former master.

Ibrahim Adil Shah put to death the Deccany chief on his
arrival at Beejapoor, and began to make preparations for retaking
the fort of Kulliany. Boorhan Nizam Shah, on receiving nitima-
tion of this design, sent ambassadors to Ramraj, who agreed to
meet him near Rachore, in order to concert a plan of operations
for the ensuing year. Ramraj accordingly moved with a consider-.
able force to that place in the year A.H. 959 (A.D. 1551), when it
was resolved that the forts of Moodkul and Rachore should be-
conquered for Ramraj, and that he should aid in reducing the
city and dependencies of Sholapoor. The allies took Rachore
and on its falling into their hands the garrison of Moodkul also
surrendered without opposition; and Ramraj having left his youn-
ger brother, Venkatadry, with an army, to assist Boorhan Nizam
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Shah, returned to Beejanuggur. Boorhan Nizam Shah took Shola-
poor in a short time, and having strengthened it, returned to
Ahmudnuggur,

Some time after, Boorhan Nizam Shah dying, peace was coa-
cluded between his successor Hoossein Nizam Shah and Ibrahim
Adil Shah. The two kings had a friendly meeting on their borders,
and parted much pleased with each other; but this good under-
standing did not last long. Khwaja Jehan Deccany,** who bad
fled to avoid the resentment of his sovereign, Hoossein Nizam
Shah, coming to Beejapoor, inspired Ibrahim Adil Shah with hopes
of retaking Sholapoor; and for this purpose Ibrahim Adil Shah
concluded a treaty with Ramraj, and irvited into his service Seif
Ein-ool-Moolk commander-in-chief of the army of the late Boor-
han Nizam Shah, who had taken refuge in Berar from the oppres-
sion of the present sovereign. These overtures were accepted by
that distinguished chieftain; and the King of Beejapoor conferred
on him high titles, with considerable estates, and an immediate
present of money. By his advice Ibrahim Adil Shah soon after
espoused the cause of the Prince Ally, son of Boorhan Nizam
Shah, who had taken refuge at his court. It was agreed between
them, that on Ally Nizam Shah being seated on the throne of
Ahmudnuggur, the forts of Kulliany and Sholapoor should be
surrendered to the King of Beejapoor. In order to effect these
objects, the Prince Ally, accompanied by the body of two thou-
sand horse which had come with him from Ahmudnuggur, mar-
ched to the fronticr for the purpose of drawing over the nobles of
that kingdom to his cause; but in this attempt he met with little
success : and Hoossein Nizam Shah having put his army in
motion, Ibrahim Adil Shah marched from Beejapoor to support
the Prince Ally, having previously distributed large sums among
his troops.

Both armies met on the plains of Sholapoor, and drew up to
engage. lbrahim Adil Shah gave the command of his right wing
to Seif Ein-ool-Moolk Geelany and Ankoos Khan, and that of the
left to Noor Khan and Imad-ool-Moolk, himself taking post with
the household troops in the centre. The hirawul, or advanced
picquet, was commanded by Seif Ein-ool-Moolk, who pushed on
from the line, and began the action with great impetuosity; Ibra-

43. This person has been frequently mentioned as the hereditacy
chief of Purenda.
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him Adil Shah, disapproving of his separation so far from the
main body, directed that the picquet should remain nearer the line,
in order the sooner to receive support, if necessary. The general
returned for answer, that his Majesty’s observation was very just;
but that as he had advanced so far, to return would only give
spirits to the enemy. Having sent this message, he went on, and
seized the enemy’s cannon, which he spiked, and drove their
picquets back on their main body. Here, however, he was reso-
lutely opposed by Hoossein Nizam Shah, who commanded in
person, notwithstanding which the Nizam Shahy army began to
give way, and must inevitably have been defeated, had the gallantry,
of Seif Ein-ool-Moolk met with proper support. At this crisis,
several Nizam Shahy chiefs, who had been engaged on the left,
advanced to the assistance of their sovereign, and almost surroun-
ded Seif Ein-ool-Moolk, whose division was thrown into tempo-
rary confusion; but still seeing the standards of Ibrahim Adil
Shah, though at a distance, he, as was his custom on desperate
occasions, dismounted from his horse, resolved to conquer or Jie.
‘Some of the troops, on seeing him dismount, told the King that
Seif Ein-ool-Moolk, having gone over to the enemy, had just
alighted to pay his respects to Hoossein Nizam Shah. Ibrahim
Adil Shah, who from the first entertained suspicions of his fidelity,
was now confirmed in them, and fled from the field without halt-
ing, till he reached Beejapoor. Seif Ein-ool-Moolk, finding the
King had fled, nobly fought his way through the enemy with great
loss; and upon his arrival at the capital, seat word, respectfully,
to his master, that he had lost all his baggage, and was without
teats or any covering for himself or his miserable followers; he
begged, therefore, an advance of cash, to enable him to repair his
losses, and appear at court according to his rank and station. The
King, who was persuaded his defeat originated in the first dis-
obedience of his orders for the picquets to fall back, replied, that
he wanted no such insubordinate and obstinate servants, and that
he might provide for himself wherever he could. Seif Ein-ool-
Moolk, who could not accuse himself of any crime, was over-
whelmed with astonishment, and sent another message to represent
that he had served the King at the risk of his life with unshaken
fidelity, and had sacrificed five hundred brave relations and friends
in the battle; and that in his present miserable situation he could
not move. He stated he had no other refuge but the King's

Briggs III/5
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threshold; and that having quitted his place of refuge at his invita-
tion, he could not repair to any other court. The King conceiving
the latter part of Ein-ool-Moolk’s message to reflect on himself,
ordered the bearer of it to be beaten, and turned out of his
presence.

Seif Ein-ool-Moolk, despairing of redress, had recourse to the
advice of his friends how to proceed; and they recommended his
going to his jageers, and raising the collections of the autumn
harvest, then just ripe, after which, should the King send a force
to expel him, he might retire wherever he should see best. This
plan he accordingly adopted; and having marched from Beejapoor
to Man-Dese,*¢ collected the revenues, and divided them among
his troops. Ibrahim Adil Shah sent one of his officers with five
thousand horse to expel Ein-ool-Moolk from the country, but the
royalists were defeated; and the chief, thus urged into revoit,
growing bolder by success, collected the revenues of many districts,
such as Walwa, Mirch, and others. The King now detached
against him ten thousand horse and foot, under command of
Neeaz Koolly Beg and Dilawur Khan Hubshy. These troops were
also defeated; and so many elephants and horses, with such a
quantity of valuable baggage, fell into the hands of Ein-ool-Moolk,
that he began seriously to think of establishing himself in the
country as an independent chief, with which view he levied addi-
tional troops.

Tbrahim Adil Shah, at length thought it necessary to take the
field in person, at the head of five thousand chosen horse, three
thousand foot, and a train of artillery. Ein-ool-Moolk encamped
on the river Man, and the King arrived, and halted some days on
the opposite bank without attacking him. Seif Ein-ool-Moolk
could not make up his mind to retreat, and resolved not to quit
the country without fighting. For three days successively he ad-
vanced towards the King’s camp, as if to engage, but as often
returned; the royal army remaining under arms on each occasion
from dawn till sunset, expecting the attack. On the fourth day,
Ein-ool-Moolk put his troops again in motion; but the King sup-
posing that his design was only to parade, as on the preceding
days, neglected to make preparations for his reception, the com-
mon guards of the camp only getting under arms. At length the
enemy’s standard appearing in sight, Tbrahim Adil Shah marshal-

44. The tract through which the Man river flows.
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led his troops in great haste, and moved out of the camp to give
battle. Ein-o0l-Mooik, averse from engaging the King in person,
consulted with his friends; observing, that it was treason to fight
against the royal standard; to which all asseated except Moortuza
Khan Anjoo, who remarked, that the standards did not fight, and
there was no danger of shedding royal blood. Ein-ool-Moolk,
satisfied with this casuistry, and finding it too late to hesitate,
charged the royalists, and attacking the centre, where Ibrahim
Adil Shah was posted, pressed on it so vigourously that it was
soon thrown into disorder, and the King fied; upon which his
whole line broke, and victory declared in favour Ein-ool-Moolk,
who seized the royal canopy, clephants, and artillery, besides all
the tents and baggage. The King shut himself up in the citadel
of Beejapoor; and so great was the alarm of the people of the
town, that the ruin of the royal family was pronounced to be
inevitable. Seif Ein-ool-Moolk, following up his success, appeared
before Beejapoor, where he for several days assaulted various
parts of the city, and endcavoured to cut off the supplies.

In this exigency, Ibrahim Adil Shah applied to the Hindoo
prince Ramraj for assistance, sending him a present of 1,200,000
hoons;** upon which he despatched his brother Venkatadry, with
a considerable force, to expel the enemy. Seif Ein-ool-Moolk,
in imitation of Assud Khan, thought to surprise the infidel’s camp;
but Venkatadry having intelligence of his designs, ordered his
troops to be on their guard, and baving procured long faggots,
with cloths steeped in oil bound round one end of each, com-
manded his followers, upon the alarm being given, to light them,
and, holding them up as high as possible, afford the troops a full
sight of the enemy. Ein-ool-Moolk, in prosecution of his inten-
tions, having one night chosen two thousand men for the purpose,
marched, accompanied by Sulabut Khan, to the enemy’s camp,
which he was allowed to enter unmolested; but upon the pre-
concerted signal being given, all the brands were instantly lighted
up, and Venkatadry, who was fully prepared, fell upon the enemy
with such success, that above five hundred of them were slain
before the detachment could clear the camp. Ein-ool-Moolk and
Sulabut Khan with the greatest difficulty made their escape; and
Josing the road through the darkness of the night, a report spread
through his camp on the return of some of the fugitives that Ein-

45.  420,000M.
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ool-Moolk was killed. The troops became panic-struck at their -
situation, and separating in all directions during the night, fled
to different quarters. Ein-ool-Moolk and Sulabut Khan, with two
hundred horse, about daylight arriving at their ground, and seeing
it deserted, fled by the route of Man-Dese to the dominions of
Hoossein Nizam Shah, where they sought protection, but were
basely assassinated by his treachery, the particulars of which will
appear in their proper place, in the history of that dynasty.
Ibrahim Adil Shah, son after the restoration of his affairs,
having long abandoned himself to hard drinking, and to promis-
cuous intercourse with women of bad character, was afflicted with
a complication of disorders. During his illness, he put to death
several physicians who failed in curing him, beheading some, and
causing others to be trodden to death by elephants, so that all the
surviving medical practitioners, becoming alarmed, fled from his
dominions. At length, deserted by his physicians, he departed this
life in the year A.H. 965 (A.D. 1557), and was buried at Gogy,
‘near his father and grandfather, after a reign of twenty-four years
and some months. He left behind him two sons and two daughters.

ALLY ADIL SHAH

ALLY ApIL SHAH, from his childhood, was remarkable for his
ready wit and various accomplishments. While yet a youth, his
father Ibrahim, one day in his presence, praised God who had
given him grace to abandon the heretical precepts of his father
and grandfather, and embrace the orthodox religion. The Prince
humorously remarked, that as his Majesty had thought proper to
depart from the faith of his parents, it was incumbent upon all
good children to follow so excellent an example. The King, dis-
pleased at this sarcasm, asked him what sect he admired; to which
he replied, that at present he was of the same opinion with his
Majesty, but hereafter God must direct him. Ibrahim Adil Shah,
from this answer, conceiving him to be inclined to the Sheea per-
suasion, disgraced his preceptor Khwaja Inayut Oolla Shirazy, and
in a few days after put him to death, in conformity with the sen-
tence passed on him by the Soony doctors at Beejapoor; and
Moolla Futteh Oolla Shirazy was nominated preceptor to the
Prince in his stead. This learned man was also secretly a Sheea,
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though for his own safety he outwardly professed the doctrines of
Mahomed Huneef, and was much beloved by his pupil. Not long
after this eveat, a party of the nobility having entered into the
schemes of Boorhan Nizam Shah, proposed, by bribing the clerk
of the kitchen, to poison Ibrahim Adil Shah, after which it was
intended to raise his brother Abdoolla to the throne, and to re-
store the public exercise of the Sheea worship. The clerk of the
kitchen, who had at first favoured the design, no sooner heard that
the intention was to change the form of religion of which he was
a strict follower, than he revealed the plot to the King, who put
all the conspirators to death; but the Prince Abdoolla escaped to
the port of Goa. Ibrahim Adil Shah, from this moment, became
suspicious of his son Ally, and sent him with his tutor to the for-
tress of Mirch, giving strict orders to the governor, Sikundur Khan,
to watch him closely, and to prevent any persons of the Sheea
persuasion from approaching his person, or allowing their doc-
trines to be mentioned in his presence. It happened, however,
that the governor and his son-in-law, Kamil Khan Deccany, were
privately of the Sheea sect, so that, instead of observing the orders
of the King, they attached themselves to the Prince, and endea-
voured to acquire his good will by granting him every indulgence.
When Ibrahim Adil Shah was taken ill, and his end appeared
nigh, the Prince frequently ascended the pulpit in a mosque, and
read the prayers after the ritual of the Sheeas, and sometimes
Kamil Khan himself officiated. This behaviour coming to the
King’s knowledge, he resolved to nominate his younger son Tah-
masp to be his successor; but learning that he was by far a more
zealous Sheea than his brother, he became incensed against him,
and committed him to confinement in the fortress of Belgam. He
then said he must leave the succession to be determined by the
decrees of Providence, and to the ministers of the government,
who might elect either of the princes they chose for their sovereign
after his death.

When the life of Ibrahim Adil Shah was despaired of, Maho-
med Kishwur Khan, governor of the districts of Hookery, Belgam,
and Raybagh, who possessed great wealth and influence in the
state, moved towards the fort of Mirch, representing to Sikundur
Khan, who commanded the latter place, that as the King’s end
was approaching, it was probable that many officers of the court
and jageerdars would embrace the cause of the Prince Tahmasp,
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and raise dissensions in the state; that, therefore, it would be as
well to prepare the royal insignia for the Prince Ally immediately.
and at once to eancamp near the walls of Mirch, in order that
people might join his standard, and be able to move to Beejapoor
without delay, on the death of the King. Sikundur Khan, accord-
ingly, invested the Prince with the insignia of royalty, and sent his
son-in-law, Kamil Khan to attend him out of the fort. Ally was
immediately joined by Kishwur Khan, who presented him with a
large sum of money; and that chief in return was honoured with
a dress, and received the office of commander-in-chief, while Kamil
Khan Deccany was raised to the rank of a noble. The news of
the Prince’s proceedings spreading abroad, the King's troops re-
paired to his standard from various quarters; and many of the
officers of the court, together with the body-guard, quitted Beeja-
poor, and hastened to pay their respects. Upon the death of
Ibrahim Adil Shah, Ally, without delay, moved towards the capi-
tal, andwasmetonthemutcbyallthememberso!thecwrt
with the regal insignia of his father, which they laid at the feet
of the new sovereign; and on arriving within two miles of the city
All/ Adil Shah ascended the throne in the garden of Kishwur
Kha1. All the syuds and learned men prayed for the prosperity
of his reign, and the nobles and other officers of government,
raising their voices in codgratulation, presented offerings. The
King gave orders for a town to be erected near the place, to com-
memorate his accession; which was soon built, and called Shah-
poor. Of his disposition towards the Sheea religion he gave
immediate proofs, by issuing orders for the Khootba to be read
tbno.ughout his dominions in the names of the Imams, as in the
reign of his grandtather; at the same time, he ordered forty persons
to be employed in his train as criers, to utter curses against the
Sahiba, - agreeably to a ceremony adopted by those of the Sheéa
persuasion; so that curses were uttered in the mosques, at the
public audiences, and in the King’s presence whenever he appeared
abroad. Justice is a treasure which increases by expenditure, and
an edifice which fire cannot burn, nor the engines of vicissitude.
destroy : the King, by his strict attention to this virtue, became
entitled to rank among the most upright of monarchs, paying such
scrupulous attention to the rights of his subjects, that the revenues
of his dominions were increased, and the limits of his kingdom
greatly extended.
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In the first year of his reign, being desirous of recovering the
forts of Kulliany and Sholapoor, which had fallen into the hands
of Hoossein Nizam Shah, the King, without waiting for the custo-
mary compliment of receiving ambassadors from the surrounding
powers, to congratulate him on his accession, despatched Kishwur
Khan and Shah Aboo Toorab Shirazy to fhegotiate a treaty of
alliance with Ramraj*® at Beejanuggur; 'at the same time he sent
Mahomed Hoossein Sadicky for the same purpose to Ahmud-
nuggur. Ramraj received the ambassadors with proper honours,
and sent back one of his confidential officers with Kishwur Khan,
to congratulate the King on his accession; but Hoossein Nizam
Shah, jealous of the designs of Ally Shah against Sholapoor, did
not evince proper respect to his embassy, nor send any in return,
but gave strong indications of decided enmity. Ally Adil Shah,
intent on adding to his dominions, and repairing the losses sus-
tained by his father, entered into a close alliance with Ramraj;
and on the occasion of the death of a son of that Prince, he had
the boldness, attended only by one hundred horse, to go to Beeja-
nuggur, to offer his condolence in person on that melancholy
occasion. Ramraj received him with the greatest respect, and the
King, with the kindest persuasions, prevailed upon him to lay
aside his mourning. The wife of Ramraj, on this occasion, adop-
ted the King as her son, and at the end of three days, which were
spent in an interchange of friendly professions and presents, Ally
Adil Shah took his leave; but as Ramraj did not attend him out
of the city he was offended, and treasured up the affront in his
mind, though too prudent, for the present, to evince any signs of
his displeasure.*!

46. The name is properly Rama Raja; but I adhere to the ortho-
graphy of Ferishta.

47. The importance which is attached to the neglect of little points
of etiquette of this nature in the East generally, but in India more
particularly, is very remarkable. The practice of escorting a guest on
part of his way home does not seem so usual among the Hindoo princes
as among the Mahomedans. Dew Ray neglected this ceremony on the
departure of Feroze Shah Bahmuny from his court in 1406, vide vol. ii.
p. 239; and the latter swore vengeance against him, when no insult pro-
bably was intended; nor was there, perhaps, any premeditated offence
in the present instance of Ally Adil Shah and Ramraj. This is one
of the numerous examples which history affords, and which daily expe-
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Ally Adil Shah’s enmity towards Hoossein Nizam Shah daily
increasing, he intimated to him, by a message seat through Shah
Hoossein Anjoo, that it was clear to the whole world that the
forts of Kulliany and Sholapoor belonged to his family by ancient
right, though, owing to the misfortunes of his father, they had
passed into the hands of the Nizam Shahy government, but that
now he hoped they would both be restored, or, at all events, the
former. Shah Hoossein Anjoo failed in every argument in pre-
vailing on Hoossein Nizam Shah to give up either place; and Ally
Adil Shah sent another ambassador to Ahmudnuggur, representing
that passion and obstinacy in the discussion of political questions
of such importance did not become great kings; and that to pre-
vent ill consequences, he trusted Hoossein Nizam Shah would see
the justice of giving up the forts, when the friendship between
their states would increase; but if not, he might expect the march
of an army into his dominions, which should be laid waste without
mercy.

Hoossein Nizam Shah, inflamed by this message, sent back a
reply so indecent as to be unfit to relate; which increased the
anger of Ally Adil Shah to such a degree, that changing the colour
of his canopy and standard from yellow to green, the colour of
Hoossein Nizam Shah, by way of defiance (according to the cus-
tom of the Deccan), challenged him to come and reclaim his
honour.

In the year A.H. 966 (A.D. 1558), Ally Adil Shah baving in-.
vited Ramraj to join him, those two monarchs invaded the territory
of Hoossein Nizam Shah, and laid it waste sc thoroughly, that
from Purenda to Joonere, and from Ahmudnuggur to Dowlutabad,
not a vestige of population was left. The infidels of Beejanuggur,
who for many years had been wishing for such an opportunity,
left no cruelty unpractised. They insulted the honour of the
Mussulman women, destroyed the mosques, and did not respect
even the sacred Koran. Hoossein Nizam Shah, by the advice of
Kasim Beg Hukeem, Shah Jafur, and other ministers, declining
any opposition in the field, retired to Peitun, and after some time
purchased peace by giving up Kulliany to Ally Adil Shah: but the
enemy had no sooner retired than he entered into an alliance with

rience teaches us, of the necessity of studying minutely the customs of
the people among whom we live, and whose good will we desire to
cultivate.
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Ibrahim Kootb Shah, and marched in conjunction with him to
retake the fort he had just surrendered. Ally Adil Shah, on re-
ceiving intelligence of this league, again despatched Kishwur Khan
and Aboo Toorab to Beejanuggur, to solicit aid from Ramraj;
and also invited Ally Bereed Shah to enter into the same confede-
racy. Ramraj, who knew the character of the King, judging that
should he refuse his assistance he would make peace with the
Mussulman powers, and attempt the recovery of Moodkul and
Rachore, marched to join him with fifty thousand horse and a
great army of foot. The allies met on the banks of the Krishna,
and moved immediately towards Kulliany, which was then be-
sieged by the Nizam Shahy and Kootb Shahy forces.

Ibrahim Kootb Shah, according to his usual mode of
embracing the strongest party, quitted his ally, and came over
suddenly to Ally Adil Shah; upon which Hoossein Nizam Shah,
without delay, retreated to Abmudnuggur. The allies followed
him with the utmost expedition to that city, and he did not think
it prudent to remain there, but having thrown a reinforcement and
supplies into the citadel, retired to the town of Joonere. The

) three sovereigns laid siege to Ahmudnuggur, and sent detachmeats
on all sides to lay waste the country. The Hindoos of Beeja-
vuggur committed the most outrageous devastations, burning and
rasing the buildings, putting up their horses in the mosques, and
performing their abominable idolatrous worship in the holy places.
The siege was pushed with the greatest vigour, but the garrison
held out with resolution, hoping that at the approach of the mon-
soon the enemy would be necessitated to retire. In this they were
not disappointed; for when the rains set in, the floods, the damp,
and the want of provisions, caused the utmost distress to prevail
in the camp. At the same time, also, Ibrahim Kootb Shah main-
tained a secret correspondence with the besieged, to whom he
privately sent in grain. Ally Adil Shah, suspecting the causes of
the obstinacy of the besieged, and, probably, scandalised by the
behaviour of his Hindoo allies, persuaded Ramraj to raise the
siege, and to march against Sholapoor. Upon their arrival within
some miles of the fortress, Kishwur Khan, seeing the danger of the
aggrandisement of the Hindoo prince, represcnted to Ally Adil
Shah, that if the fort of Sholapoor should fall, Rumraj would most
prohably kecp it for himself, and extend his views to the neigh-
houiit countries: * scemed, therefore, advisable to endeavour to
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reduce the fort of Nuldroog, and to leave the reduction of Shola-
poor to a more convenient time, when there would be no appre-
heasion of any rivalry for its possession. Ally Adil Shah, approv-
ing this advice, persuaded Ramraj to alter his views, and move to
the place where Raja Nul bhad formerly erected a strong fortress.
Here, after throwing up an extensive work of stone, the allies took
leave of cach other, and returned to their several dominions.

In the first expedition, when Ally Adil Shah had invited
Ramraj to his assistance, the Hindoos committed great outrages
at Ahmudnuggur, and omitted no mark of disrespect to the reli-
gion of the faithful, singing and performing their abominations and
superstitious worship in the very mosques. The King was then
much offended; but as he had not the means of preventing it he
pretended not to observe it. In the conclusion of this campaign,
Ramraj, looking with contempt on the Islam monarchs, and re-
garding them as of little consequence, refused to pay proper hon-
ours to the officers sent 10 communicate with him. When he
admitted them to his presence, he did not permit them even to sit,
and treated them with the utmost contempt and haughtiness. He
made them attend when in public in his train on foot, not allow-
ing them to mount till he gave orders; and on the return from
the last expedition to Nuldroog, the officers and soldiers of his
army, in general, treated the Mussulmans with direct insolence,
making use of contemptuous language to them. Ramraj, after
taking leave, casting an evil eye on the countries of Kootb Shah
and Adil Shah, despatched armies to the frontiers of each, and
Ally Adil Shah was compelled to purchase his forbearance by
ceding the districts of Etgeer and Bagrakote; and Ibrahim Kootb
Shah, to obtain the same end, resigned Kowilconda, Pangul, and
Guatoor.

Ramraj daily continuing to encroach on the dominions of the
Mussulmans, Ally Adil Shah resolved to curb his insolence and
reduce his power by a league of the faithful against him; for which
purpose he convened an assembly of his friends and confidential
advisers. Kishwur Khan Lary and Shah Aboo Toorab Shirazy.
whose abilities had often been experienced, represented, that the
King’s desire to humble the pride of the Ray of Beejanuggur was
undoubtedly meritorious and highly politic, but could never be
effected unless by the union of all the Mahomedan kings of the
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Deccan, as the revenues of Ramraj, collected from sixty*® seaports
and numerous flourishing cities and districts, amounted to an
immense sum; which enabled him to maintain a force, against
which no single king of the Mussulmans could hope to contead
with the smallest prospect of success. Ally Adil Shah com-
manded Kishwur Khan to take measures to effect the object of a
general league; and an ambassador was accordingly despatched
without delay to sound Ibrahim Kootb Shah, and to open to him,
if prudent, the designed plan.

Ibrahim Kootb Shah, who had been inwardly stung with
indignation at the haughty insolence and the usurpations of Ram-
raj, eagerly acceded to the proposed alliance, and offered to
mediate a union between Ally Adil Shah and Hoossein Nizam
Shah, and even promised to obtain for the former the fort of
Sholapoor, which had been the original cause of their disagree-
ment. With this view Ibrahim Kootb Shah despatched Moostufa
Khan Ardistany, the most intelligent nobleman of his court, to
Ally Adil Shah, with orders, if he should find him still sincere in
his intentions towards the league, to proceed from thence to
Ahmudnuggur, and conclude the alliance. Moostufa Khan, on
his arrival at Beejapoor, fully perceiving that the object of the
alliancé was for the sake of prosecuting war against the infidels,
departed for Ahmudnuggur, and laid the subject before Hoossein
Nizam Shah. He reminded him, that during the times of the
Bahmuny princes the whole strength of the Mussulman power was
united under one king, which maintained the balance against the
force of the Ray of Beejanuggur; that now, though the Mussulman
dominion was divided, yet policy required that all the princes of
the faithful should unite in restraining the increasing power of their
common enemy. He observed, that the authority of the Ray of
Beejanuggur, who had reduced all the rajas of the Carnatic to his
yoke, required to be checked, and that his influence should be
removed from the countries of Islam, in order that the people of
their several dominions. who should be considered as being com-
mitted by the Almighty to their care, might repose in safety from

48. This is, probably, a mere figure of speech; for it would be
difficult to enumerate such a number even on both shores of the penin-
sula, knowing as we do, from the Portuguese historians, how large a
portion of the western coast was independent of his authority.
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the oppressions of unbelievers, and their mosques and holy places
no longer be subject to pollution from infidels.

These remarks had their full effect upon Hoossein Nizam
Shah, who, pleased with the communication of Moostufa Khan,
treated with unreserved confidence, so that he had every oppor-
tunity he could wish of promoting the object of his mission. After
some days it was agreed, that Hoossein Nizam Shah should give
his daughter Chand Beeby in marriage to Ally Adil Shah, with
the fortress of Sholapoor as her dowry; and that he should receive
the sister of that Prince, named Huddeea Sooltana, as a consort
for his eldest son Mooturza; that a treaty of eternal friendship
should be entered on between both states, and that they should
unite sincerely to reduce the power of Ramraj; for which purpose
it was resolved to march against him at the earliest practicable
period. These points being settled, Moolla Inayut Oolla accom-
panied Moostufa Khan as ambassador on his return to Beejapoor;
on which occasion the political treaties and marriage agreements
were drawn out, and mutually confirmed by the most solemn
oaths. It was agreed, also, that on the same day, nuptial rejoic-
ings and festivals should be held at Beejapoor and Ahmudnuggur,
and the two princesses be sent to their separate courts. Hoossein
Nizam Shah, Ally Adil Shab, Ibrahim Kqotb Shah, and Ally
Bereed Shah, now began to make active preparations for the cam-
paign against Ramraj.

Ally Adil Shah, preparatory to declaring war, and in order
to afford himself a pretence for breaking with Ramraj, despatched
an ambassador to his court, demanding restitution of Etgeer,
Bagrakote, Rachore, and Moodkul, which bad at different times
been wrested from him. Ramraj, as was expected, expelled the
ambassador with disgrace from his court; and the united sove-
reigns made this circumstance a plea for hastening their prepara-
tions to crush the common enemy of Islam.

In the year A.H. 972 (aD. 1564), the four princes, at the
head of their respective armies, met on the plains of Beeja-
poor, and on the 20th of Jumad-ool-Awul (Dec. 26) of
the same year mached from that neighbourhood. After some
days they arrived at Talikote,*” and the armies encamped near the

49. The battle which ensued has been called the battle of Talikote
ty the Mahomcedans, because the head-quarters of the several sovereigns
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banks of the Krishna; where, as the country on the north bank
belonged to Ally Adil Shah, he entertained his allies with great
splendour, and sent strict orders to all the governors of his domi-
nions to forward supplies of provisions from their districts regu-
larly to the camp.

Ramraj, though he saw this formidable union of the Mussul-
mans against him, did not descend in the least from his former
haughty language, but treated the Mahomedan ambassadors with
scorn, regarding their enmity as of little moment. In the first
instunce he detached his youngest brother Yeltumraj, with twenty
thousand cavalry, five hundred elephants, and one hundred thou-
sand foot, to occupy the right bank of the Krishna, and secure all
the passages of the river. He also sent his second brother Venka-
tadry with another equally large army, himself following by slow
marches with the whole power of his dominions. The allies,
finding that all the known ferries and fords were thus pre-occupied
by the enemy, despatched spies to explore the river, in hopes of
finding some place at which they might be able to cross their
troops : it was at length fully ascertained that the only safe pas-
sage for the army was directly in the enemy’s front, which was in
his possession, and who had constructed field-fortifications,
strengthened by cannon and fireworks, on the opposite bank. On
obtaining this information the allies held a council, when it was
determined that they should march to another part of the river,
as if with the intention to cross, in hopes that the enemy might
be induced to quit his position and follow, when the Mahomedans
might return suddenly, and throw part of the army across at the
desired ford without interruption. Agreeably to this plan, the
army of Islam moved on the next morning, and continued to
march for three days successively, which completely deceived the
enemy, who quitted all his posts, and manceuvred along the oppo-
site bank of the river. The allies, on the third night, suddenly
struck their camp, and moved with such rapidity, that during the
next day, they gained the ford which the enemy had deserted, and
crossed the river without opposition. On the next moming they
made a forward movement to within ten miles of the camp of
Ramraj; who, though somewhat astonished at their activity, was
by no means dismayed, but commanded his brothers to fall back

were near that village. The battle was fought on the south bank of the’
Krishna, nearly twenty miles off.
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and join him. The allies now drew up their army in order of
battle. The right wing was intrusted to Ally Adil Shah, the left
to Ally Bereed Shah and Ibrahim Kootb Shah, and the centre to
Hoossein Nizam Shah. The artillery, fastened together by strong
chains and ropes, was drawn up in front of the line, and the war
elephants were placed in various positions, agreeable to custom.
Each prince erected his particular standard in the centre of his
own army, and the allies moved in close order against the enemy.

Ramraj intrusted his right wing to his brother Yeltumraj, to
oppose Kootb Shah, and his left wing to his other brother Venka-
tadry, against Ally Adil Shah, while he himself commanded the
centre. Two thousand war elephants and one thousand pieces of
cannon were placed at different intervals of his line. About noon,
Ramraj mounted a sing’hasun,® in spite of the remonstrances of
his officers who wished him to be on horseback, as much safer;
but he said, there was no occasion for taking precaution against
children, who would certainly fly on the first charge. Both armies
being in motion soon came to battle, and the infidels began the
attack by vast flights of rockets®! and rapid discharges of artillery,
which did not discourage the allies. On this, the action became
general, and many were slain on both sides. Ramraj, experiencing
a very different reception to what he expected, descended from his
sing’hasun, and seating himself on a rich throne set with jewels,
under a canopy of crimson velvet, embroidered with gold and
adorned with fringes of pearls, caused his treasurer to place heaps
of money around him, that he might confer rewards on such of
his soldiers as merited the distinction; rich ormaments of gold and
jewels were also placed before him for the same purpose. The
infidels, inspired by the generosity of their prince, charged the
right and left of the allies with such vigour, that they were thrown
into temporary disorder; and Ally Adil Shah and Ibrahim Kootb
Shah began to despair of victory, and even to prepare for retreat.
Hoossein Nizam Shah, however, remained firm in the ceatre, and
pushed on so ardently, that the division of Ramraj was thrown
into confusion, on which the Ray, although seventy years of age,
again mounted his sing’hasun, which was soon after abandoned

50. A sort of litter of state.

51. This weapon, so lately introduced into European warfare,
seems to have been familiar to the Hindoos three centuries ago, and
probably at a much earlier period.
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by the bearers on the approach of a furious elephant belonging to
Hoossein Nizam Shah; and before he had time to recover himself
and mount a horse, a party of the allies 100k him prisoner, and
conducted him to Chuleby Roomy Khar, commanding the artil-
lery. This officer brought him beiore Hoossein Nizam Shah, who
ordered his head to be instantly struck off, and caused it to be
placed on the point of a long spear, that his death might be thus
announced to the enemy.’* The Hindoos, according to custom,
when they saw their chief destroyed, fled in the utmost disorder
from the field, and were pursued by the allies with such success,
that the river was dyed red with their blood. It is computed, by
the best authoritics, that above one hundred thousand infidels were
slain during the action and in the pursuit. The plunder was so
great, that every private man in the allied army became rich in
gold, jewels, tents, arms, horses, and slaves, the kings permitting
every person to retain what he acquired, reserving the elephants
only for their own use.* Letters with accounts of this important
victory were despatched to their several dominions, and to the
neighbouring states, while the kings themselves, shortly after the
battle, marched onwards into the country of Ramraj, as far as Ana-
goondy;** and the advanced troops penetrated to Beejanuggur,
which they plundered, rased the chief buildings to the ground,
and committed every species of excess. When the allies bad des-
troyed all the country around, Venkatadry, who escaped from the
battle to a distant fortress, sent humble entreaties to the kings, to
whom he agreed to restore all the places which his brother had

52. 1t affords a striking example at once of the malignity of the
Mahomedans towards this Hindoo princs and of the depraved taste of
the times, when we see a sculptured representation of Ramraj’s hecad,
at the present day, serving as the opening of one of the sewers of the
citadel of Beejapoor; and we know that the real head, annually covered
with oil and red pigment, has been exhibited to the pious Mahomedans
of Ahmudnuggur, on the anniversary of the battle, for the last two
hundred and fifty-four years, by the dcscendants of the executioner, in
whose hands it bas remained till the picsent period.

53. Casar Frederick states, that the Hindoos lost the battle owing
to the treachery of two Mahomedan chiefs in Ramraj’s army; a circum-
stance which Ferishta omits to mention. The Portuguese historians take
o notice of this battle at all, though it was one of the most important
political events which occurred during the period of the zenith of their
POWEr.

54. A town near Beejanuggur.
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wrested from them; and the victors being satisfied, took leave of
each other at Rachore, and returned to their respective dominions.
The kingdom of Beejanuggur since this battle has never recovered
its ancient splendour; the city itself was so destroyed, that it is
now totally in ruins and uninhabited; while the country has been
seized on by the tributary chiefs, each of whom hath assumed an
independent power in his own district.

Hoossein Nizam Shah dying not long after this event, was
succeeded by his son Moortuza, then a minor. Ally Adil Shah,
conceiving this a favourable opportunity of extending his domi-
nions on the south, moved with an army to Anagoondy, in order
to place Timraj, the son of Ramraj, on the musnud of Penkonda,
and to depose Venkatadry; hoping, by degrees, to acquire for him-
self a portion of the territory of Beejanuggur. Venkatadry,
informed of his designs, wrote both to Moortuza Nizam Shah and
to his mother Khoonza Sooltana (who directed his affairs) for
assistance. The Queen, unwilling to w